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David J. Mansfield

Chief Executive Officer
PERMA-PIPE International Holdings, Inc.

MESSAGE
TO STOCKHOLDERS 2019

We were successful in developing our organizational
strength and further improving our approach and
culture, which was a primary objective for us in 2019.
This not only provides us with a basis for future
growth, but it should also enable us to continue to
improve ourselves at an accelerating rate. The next
important and exciting step for us will be to pursue
major growth opportunities, and this is where our
focus will now turn. Prior to March this year, we had
already identified numerous opportunities that could

enable meaningful growth for the company. Then we all
encountered the significant and unexpected challenges
put to us as a result of the coronavirus combined with
the simultaneous collapse in oil prices. All of a sudden,
all of our priorities changed, and we are still making
sense of these and trying to navigate the uncertainties
that still exist. As a result, some of the opportunities
we have identified will undoubtedly be delayed by a
number of months at least, but we are still hoping for
a speedy return to normal conditions, and trust that
the uncertain period we will need to sustain through
will be minimized.

Looking back over 2019, we continued to get closer
to achieving our goal of generating superior financial
results, returning the second consecutive year of
positive operating results, and increasing our net
income by 750% from the prior year. Importantly, this
improvement to earnings has eased the pressures we
had been under to constantly monitor cash flows and,
therefore, investments to enable growth. We are now
returning to an environment where we can begin to
focus on the medium and long term future and take
advantage of the opportunities we identify.

During the first half of the year, we were meeting
fully the aggressive targets we had set ourselves for
2019. It was during the latter half of the year that we
experienced an unexpected downturn in the activities
at our Canadian facility, and that transpired to be
the greatest drag on our achieving expectations. The
negative impact of this was compensated by improved
margins overall, by better performance from our leak



detection and US divisions, and by the success of our
expansion into Egypt, where we opened a new facility
in the last half of the year.

We did see some delays in our clients’ construction
schedules in Saudi Arabia, which negatively impacted
our results for 2019, but this has become something of
a recurring challenge there, so not entirely unexpected.
The delayed projects are still planned or in progress,
but with the impact of recent events on economic
outlooks, uncertainty remains over how quickly some
of these projects will progress.

Also, during the third quarter of 2019, we received the
news of the suspension of the significant project in East
Africa that we have been pursuing for some time. As
yet, there is no indication of when that project might
resume. Similarly, a second large project in East Africa
appears to be stalling, although there continue to be
news releases indicating that it will continue to move
forward, albeit with a later schedule. We have not
been discouraged however, by the news of either of
these projects since the growth opportunities we have
since identified are significant and should represent
ongoing participation in a recurring market.

What is most encouraging now is to know that, rather
than be in a defensive mode, we now have the ability to
shift our focus towards growth opportunities, knowing
that we have created the foundation to successfully
take on the challenges they present.

In closing, I would like to extend my thanks to our
Board of Directors for their continued support and
guidance, and to all of our employees who continue
to demonstrate their commitment, loyalty, and effort.
Finally, my appreciation goes to our investors for their
continued support and patience. Recent years have
seen very challenging and trying times for all of us,
and I hope that we will now begin to see the light
at the end of the tunnel and emerge into a period of
growth.




ABOUT

PERMA-PIPE

Operational Excellence is a
strategic differentiator for our
company and has solidified
our high-performance culture
by making PERMA-PIPE a
more disciplined, agile, and

competitive organization.

OUR COMPANY

PERMA-PIPE International Holdings, Inc. (NASDAQ:PPIH)
is a global engineered pipe services company offering
core competencies in anti-corrosion coatings, insulation
solutions, containment systems, leak detection systems,
engineering support, field installation, and fabrication
services for the oil & gas, district heating & cooling,
environmental, and industrial industries.

OUR PURPOSE

We are a global engineered pipe services company. Our
purpose is to be the world’s most trusted partner making it
safer, providing the highest standard, and offering excellent
customer service.



OUR VALUES

Launched in 2019, our refreshed company values describe the commitments that define our character. These values
are being assimilated within our global organization to strengthen the employee experience and grow our business.

SAFETY FIRST

No Accidents, No Injuries. Be responsible
for your own and other’s safety.

BE A TEAM PLAYER

Work with your customers and coworkers to
identify and solve problems. Never settle for
the status quo.

VALUE PEOPLE

Seek out and appreciate each other’s
ideas, thoughts, and values.

RESPECT

Treat others as you want to be treated —
with trust, dignity, and respect.

.................................................................................................................................................................................

ACT WITH INTEGRITY

Tell the truth, be reliable and transparent,
and do the right thing.

OWNIT

Own your actions, decisions, and
responsibilities.

.................................................................................................................................................................................

PARTNERS IN EXCELLENCE

When our customers partner with PERMA-PIPE, they
are not just buying a long-lasting, reliable piping
system; they are also investing in a partnership
with a company that stands behind its products and
services. As their single-source partner, we work
with them to plan, design, engineer, fabricate, and
install the most cost-effective and dependable piping
system available, providing them with lasting peace
of mind. This is what we mean by our company
slogan, Partners In Excellence.




INSULATING THE WORLD

We have seven strategically located manufacturing facilities in the USA (2), Canada, United Arab Emirates,
Saudi Arabia, Egypt, and India. PERMA-PIPE is recognized for its excellent safety record, industry-leading
products and services, the highest quality fabrication, and the lowest life-cycle cost for the most complex piping
system challenges.

Camrose, Alberta, Canada Lebanon, Tennessee, USA

Fujairah,
United Arab Emirates




WE ARE CREATING ENGINEERED
PIPING SYSTEMS

that improve total life cycle costs
for our customers

Producing some of the most trusted and reliable engineered piping systems inspires us to be our best every day. We
have a keen understanding of the role piping plays in our various markets, and we are proud to offer core competencies
in anti-corrosion coatings, insulation solutions, containment systems, leak detection systems, engineering support,
field installation, and fabrication services to our customers around the world.




WE ARE INVESTING IN OUR

employees and partners

Our world-class engineered piping systems begin with our employees and partners. The cornerstone of our company
is our dedicated team of employees and the long-standing partnerships we have with our customers and vendors.
We strive to be the best place to work by supporting professional development, providing competitive benefits, and
creating a culture that values safety, quality, and entrepreneurship. Also, our continued investment in the business
helps to strengthen partnerships with our customers while supporting long-term sustainable growth we aim to achieve.
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PARTI
Cautionary Statements Regarding Forward Looking Information

Certain statements contained in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, which can be identified by the use of forward-looking terminology such as "may," "will," "expect,"
"continue," "remains," "intend," "aim," "should," "prospects," "could," "future," "potential,”" "believes," "plans," "likely," and "probable," or the negative thereof or other
variations thereon or comparable terminology, constitute "forward-looking statements," within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and
Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as amended ("Exchange Act") and are subject to the safe harbors created thereby. These statements should be
considered as subject to the many risks and uncertainties that exist in the Company's operations and business environment. Such risks and uncertainties could cause
actual results to differ materially from those projected as a result of many factors, including, but not limited to, the following:

non non "o

¢ the impact of the coronavirus (COVID-19) on the Company's results of operations, financial condition and cash flows;

¢ fluctuations in the price of oil and natural gas and its impact on customer order volume for the Company's products;

¢ the Company's ability to comply with all covenants in its credit facilities;

« the Company’s ability to repay its debt and renew expiring international credit facilities;

« the Company’s ability to effectively execute its strategic plan and achieve profitability and positive cash flows;

¢ the impact of global economic weakness and volatility;

e fluctuations in steel prices and the Company’s ability to offset increases in steel prices through price increases in its products;

¢ the timing of orders for the Company’s products;

¢ decreases in government spending on projects using the Company’s products, and challenges to the Company’s non-government customers’ liquidity and
access to capital funds;

« the Company’s ability to successfully negotiate progress-billing arrangements for its large contracts;

e aggressive pricing by existing competitors and the entrance of new competitors in the markets in which the Company operates;

¢ the Company’s ability to purchase raw materials at favorable prices and to maintain beneficial relationships with its suppliers;

« the Company’s ability to manufacture products free of latent defects and to recover from suppliers who may provide defective materials to the Company;

«  reductions or cancellations of orders included in the Company’s backlog;

< risks and uncertainties related to the Company's international business operations;

« the Company’s ability to attract and retain senior management and key personnel;

¢ the Company’s ability to achieve the expected benefits of its growth initiatives;

« the Company's ability to interpret changes in tax regulations and legislation;

e reversals of previously recorded revenue and profits resulting from inaccurate estimates made in connection with the Company’s percentage-of-completion
revenue recognition;

e the Company’s failure to establish and maintain effective internal control over financial reporting; and

¢ the impact of cybersecurity threats on the Company’s information technology systems.



Item 1. BUSINESS

Perma-Pipe International Holdings, Inc., collectively with its subsidiaries ("PPTH", the "Company" or the "Registrant"), is engaged in the manufacture and sale of products
in one reportable segment: Piping Systems. The Company was incorporated in Delaware on October 12, 1993. The Company's common stock is reported under ticker
symbol "PPIH". The Company's fiscal year ends on January 31. Years, results and balances described as 2020, 2019 and 2018 are for the fiscal years ended January 31, 2021,
2020 and 2019, respectively.

Products and services. The Company engineers, designs, manufactures and sells specialty piping systems and leak detection systems. Specialty piping systems include: (i)
insulated and jacketed district heating and cooling ("DHC") piping systems for efficient energy distribution from central energy plants to multiple locations, (ii) primary and
secondary containment piping systems for transporting chemicals, hazardous fluids and petroleum products, and (iii) the coating and/or insulation of oil and gas gathering
and transmission pipelines. The Company's leak detection systems are sold with its piping systems or on a stand-alone basis to monitor areas where fluid intrusion may
contaminate the environment, endanger personal safety, cause a fire hazard, impair essential services or damage equipment or property.

The Company frequently engineers and custom fabricates to job site dimensions and incorporates provisions for thermal expansion due to cycling temperatures. This
custom fabrication helps to minimize the amount of field labor required by the installation contractor. Most of the Company's piping systems are produced for underground

installations and, therefore, require trenching, which is the responsibility of the general contractor, and completed by unaffiliated installation contractors.

The Company’s piping systems are typically sold as a part of large discrete projects, and customer demand can vary by season. See "Management's Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations ("MD&A")."

Operating Facilities: The Company operates its business from the following locations:

Perma-Pipe, Inc. Perma-Pipe Middle East FZC
Niles, IL Fujairah, United Arab Emirates
New Iberia, LA Perma-Pipe Saudi Arabia, LLC
Lebanon, TN Dammam, Kingdom of Saudi Arabia
Perma-Pipe Canada, Litd. Perma-Pipe India Pvt. Ltd
Camrose, Alberta, Canada Gandhidham, India
Perma-Pipe Egypt for Metal Fabrication and Insulation Industries (Perma-Pipe
Egypt) S.A.E.

Beni Suef, Egypt

Customers and sales channels. The Company's customer base is industrially and geographically diverse. In the United States, the Company employs inside and
outside sales managers who use and assist a network of independent manufacturers' representatives, none of whom sell products that are competitive with the Company's
piping systems. The Company employs a direct sales force in Canada, India and Egypt, and in several countries in the Middle East to market and sell products and
services. On a country-by-country basis, and where advantageous, an agent network is often used to assist in marketing and selling the Company's products and services.

For the year ended January 31, 2020, one customer accounted for 11.5% of the Company's consolidated net sales and for the year ended January 31, 2019, no one customer
accounted for more than 10% of the Company's consolidated net sales.

As of January 31, 2020 and 2019, one customer accounted for 13.3% and three customers accounted for 42.0% of accounts receivable, respectively.

Backlog. The Company’s backlog on January 31, 2020 was $46.8 million compared to $61.0 million on January 31, 2019, most of which is expected to be completed within
2020. This reduction is primarily the result of major projects completed during 2019 in Saudi Arabia and the Gulf of Mexico. The Company defines backlog as the expected
total revenue value resulting from confirmed customer purchase orders that have not yet been recognized as revenue. However, by industry practice, orders may be
canceled or modified at any time. If a customer cancels an order, the customer is normally responsible for all finished goods produced or shipped, all direct and indirect
costs incurred and also for a reasonable allowance for anticipated profits. No assurance can be given that these amounts will be recovered after cancellation. Any
cancellation or delay in orders may result in lower than expected revenue from the Company's reported backlog.

Intellectual property. The Company owns various patents covering its piping and electronic leak detection systems. These patents are not material to the Company either
individually or in the aggregate because the Company believes its sales would not be materially reduced if patent protection was not available. The Company owns
numerous trademarks connected with its piping and leak detection systems including the following U.S. trademarks: Perma-Pipe®, Chil-Gard®, Double Quik®, Escon-A®,
FluidWatch®, Galva-Gard®, Polytherm®, Pal-AT®, LiquidWatch®, PalCom®, Xtru-therm®, Auto-Therm®, Multi-Therm®, Ultra-Therm®, Cryo-Gard®, Sleeve-Gard®,
Electro-Gard® and Sulphur-Therm®. The Company also owns a number of trademarks throughout the world. Some of the Company's more significant trademarks include:
Auto-Therm®, Cryo-Gard®, Electro-Gard®, Sleeve-Gard®, Permalert®, Pal-AT®, Perma-Pipe®, Polytherm®, Sulphur-Therm®, Ric-Wil®, and Xtru-therm®.



Suppliers. The basic raw materials used in production are pipes and tubes made of carbon steel, steel alloys, copper, ductile iron, or polymers and various chemicals such
as polyols, isocyanate, urethane resin, polyethylene and fiberglass, mostly purchased in bulk quantities. The Company believes there are currently adequate supplies and
sources of availability of these needed raw materials.

The sensor cables used in the Company's leak detection and location systems are manufactured to the Company's specifications by companies regularly engaged in
manufacturing such cables. The Company owns patents for some of the features of its sensor cables. The Company assembles the monitoring component of its leak
detection and location systems from components purchased from many sources.

Competition. The piping systems market is highly competitive. The Company believes its principal competition consists of over 20 major competitors and more small
competitors. The Company believes that quality, service, engineering design capabilities and support, a comprehensive product line, timely execution, plant location and
price are key competitive factors. The Company also believes it has a more comprehensive product line than any competitor.

Research and Development. The Company maintains a standalone research and development function and primarily focuses on activities and development to meet
product specifications mandated by its customers and the industry.

Government regulation. The demand for the Company's leak detection and location systems and secondary containment piping systems, which is a small percentage of
the Company's total annual piping sales, is driven by federal and state environmental regulation with respect to hazardous waste. The U.S. Federal Resource Conservation
and Recovery Act requires, in some cases, that the storage, handling and transportation of fluids through underground pipelines feature secondary containment and leak
detection. The U.S. National Emission Standard for hydrocarbon airborne particulates requires reduction of airborne volatile organic compounds and fugitive emissions.
Under this regulation, many major refineries are required to recover fugitive vapors and dispose of the recovered material in a process sewer system, which then becomes a
hazardous secondary waste system that must be contained. Although there can be no assurances as to the ultimate effects of these governmental regulations, the
Company believes such regulations may increase the demand for its piping systems products.

In the United States and Canada, federal government regulations require that all buried pipelines that cross state or provincial boundaries or the United States-Canada
border, have an anti-corrosion coating system applied. The Company believes that this regulation has a positive effect on demand for its products due to the Company's
unique expertise with respect to anti-corrosion coating.

Employees
As of January 31, 2020, the Company had approximately 193 employees working in the United States, of which approximately 79 were under two collective bargaining

agreements, one expiring on March 31, 2022, and the other on April 30, 2020, which is expected to be renewed. There were approximately 439 employees working at the
Company's international locations. The Company considers its relationship with its employees to be good.



Auvailable Information

The Company files with and furnishes to the Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC"), reports including annual meeting materials, Annual Reports on Form 10-K,

quarterly reports on Form 10-Q and current reports on Form 8-K, as well as amendments thereto. The Company maintains a website, www.permapipe.com, where these

reports and related materials are available free of charge as soon as reasonably practicable after the Company electronically delivers such material to the SEC. The

information on the Company's website is not part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K and is not incorporated into this or any other filings by the Company with the SEC.
EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT

The following table sets forth information regarding the executive officers of the Company as of April 1, 2020:

Executive officer of the

Name Offices and Positions; Age Company since
David J. Mansfield Director, President and Chief Executive Officer; Age 59 2016
D. Bryan Norwood Vice President and Chief Financial Officer; Age 64 2018
Wayne Bosch Vice President, Chief Human Resources Officer; Age 63 2013

David J. Mansfield: President, Chief Executive Officer ("CEO") and member of the Board of Directors since November 2016. From 2015 to 2016, Mr. Mansfield served as
Chief Financial Officer ("CFO") of Compressor Engineering Corp. & CECO Pipeline Services Co., which provides products and services to the gas transmission, midstream,
gas processing, and petrochemical industries. In this position, he had overall responsibility for the group’s financial affairs, including the development and execution of
turnaround plans and the successful negotiation of a corporate refinancing. From 2009 to 2014, Mr. Mansfield served as CFO and as Acting CEO of Pipestream, Inc., a
venture capital-owned technology development company providing a suite of products to the oil and gas pipeline industry. From 1992 to 2009, Mr. Mansfield was
employed with Bredero Shaw, the world’s largest provider of protective coatings for the oil and gas pipeline industry, most recently as Vice President Strategic Planning.
During his tenure with Bredero Shaw, Mr. Mansfield served in numerous roles including Vice President Controller and Commercial General Manager, Europe, Africa & FSU,
and played a key role in strategy development and merger and acquisition activities as the company grew from annual revenues of $100 million to over $900 million.

D. Bryan Norwood: Appointed Vice President and Chief Financial Officer in November 2018. From 2014 to 2018 Mr. Norwood served as CFO of API Perforating, LLC an
oilfield service company providing stage perforation and wireline services. From 2012 to 2014, Mr. Norwood served as CFO of Dupre” Energy Services, LLC an oilfield
service company offering multiple services lines. From 2010 to 2012, Mr. Norwood was Vice President Finance for the Environmental Services Division of PSC, LLC a
hazardous waste disposal company. From 1992 to 2010, Mr. Norwood held several senior leadership positions including CFO of Smith Equipment Rental and Services,
LLC., a regional oilfield service provider, Vice President and Treasurer of Key Energy Services, Inc., an oilfield multi-service provider, and Corporate Controller and Vice
President Finance-Americas with Bredero Shaw, a global pipe coating provider.

Wayne Bosch: Appointed Vice President and Chief Human Resources Officer in December 2013. From 2010 to 2012, Mr. Bosch was Vice President of Human Resources at
Pactiv, a $4.0 billion global manufacturer and distributor of food packaging products. Prior to Pactiv, he led the human resource activities at the North American segment of
Barilla America, a $6.3 billion global pasta, sauces and bakery manufacturer and was the Chief Human Resources Officer for water filtration leader Culligan International. Mr.
Bosch's background spans the entire spectrum of human resources competencies, including mergers and acquisition and business integration, in start-up, turnaround and
high-growth businesses. His scope also includes communications, legal, occupational health services, health safety environment, risk management, payroll, facilities and
general administrative services.



Item 1A. RISK FACTORS

The Company's business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows are subject to various risks, including, but not limited to, those set forth below, which
could cause actual results to vary materially from recent results or from anticipated future results. These risk factors should be considered together with information
included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

The Company’s business could be negatively impacted by the recent Coronavirus (“COVID-19”) outbreak. An outbreak of a novel strain of coronavirus, COVID-19,
was identified in Wuhan, China in December 2019 and was subsequently recognized as a pandemic by the World Health Organization on March 11, 2020. This outbreak has
severely restricted the level of economic activity around the world. In response to this COVID-19 outbreak, the governments of many countries, states, cities and other
geographic regions have taken preventative or protective actions, such as imposing restrictions on travel and business operations. Temporary closures of businesses have
been ordered and numerous other businesses have temporarily closed voluntarily. These actions have expanded significantly in the past several weeks and may continue
to expand in scope, type and impact. These measures, while intended to protect human life, are expected to have significant adverse impacts on domestic and foreign
economies of uncertain severity and duration. It is likely that the current outbreak or continued spread of COVID-19 will cause an economic slowdown, and it is possible
that it could cause a global recession. Currently, the effectiveness of economic stabilization efforts being taken to mitigate the effects of these actions and the spread of
COVID-19 is uncertain.

A public health pandemic, including COVID-19, poses the risk that the Company or its affiliates, employees, suppliers, customers and others may be prevented from
conducting business activities for an indefinite period of time, including as a result of shutdowns, travel restrictions and other actions that may be requested or mandated
by governmental authorities. Such actions may prevent the Company from accessing the facilities of its customers to deliver products and provide services. In addition, the
Company’s customers may choose to delay or abandon projects on which it provides products and/or services as a result of such actions. Further, the Company has
experienced, and may continue to experience, disruptions or delays in its supply chain as a result of such actions. While a substantial portion of the Company’s businesses
have been classified as an essential business in jurisdictions in which facility closures have been mandated, the Company can give no assurance that this will not change
in the future or that the Company’s businesses will be classified as essential in each of the jurisdictions in which it operates.

This COVID-19 outbreak has impacted, and may continue to impact, the Company's office locations and manufacturing facilities, as well as those of its third party vendors,
including through the effects of facility closures, reductions in operating hours and other social distancing efforts. In addition, the Company has modified its business
practices (including employee travel, employee work locations, and cancellation of physical participation in meetings, events and conferences), and the Company may take
further actions as may be required by government authorities or that the Company determines are in the best interests of its employees, customers, partners, and suppliers.

The Company may also experience impacts from market downturns and changes in demand for the Company's products and services related to pandemic fears and impacts
on its workforce as a result of COVID-19. If the COVID-19 pandemic becomes more pronounced in the Company’s markets, or if another significant natural disaster or
pandemic were to occur in the future, the Company’s operations in areas impacted by such events could experience further adverse financial impacts due to market changes
and other resulting events and circumstances. The extent to which the COVID-19 outbreak impacts the Company’s results of operations, financial condition and cash
flows will depend on future developments that are highly uncertain and cannot be predicted, including new information that may emerge concerning the severity of COVID-
19, the longevity of COVID-19 and the actions to contain its impact. However, it is likely that the impact of COVID-19 will adversely affect the Company's results of
operations, financial conditions and cash flows in fiscal 2020.

Crude oil and natural gas prices are volatile, and the substantial and extended decline in oil and natural gas prices has had, and may continue to have, a material
adverse effect on demand and pricing in the Company's business. Prices for crude oil and natural gas fluctuate widely. Among the factors that can or could cause these
price fluctuations are:

. the level of consumer demand;

. domestic and worldwide supplies of crude oil and natural gas;

. domestic and international drilling activity;

. the actions of other crude oil exporting nations and the Organization of Petroleum Exporting Countries;

. worldwide economic and political conditions, including political instability or armed conflict in oil and gas producing regions; and
. the price and availability of, and demand for, competing energy sources, including alternative energy sources.

In early fiscal 2020, pricing for oil and natural gas dropped substantially and may continue to be at depreciated levels through fiscal 2020, which could substantially reduce
the demand for the Company’s oil and gas related products. In February 2020, the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia and the Russian Federation failed to reach an agreement on oil
production limitations. The news of a failed agreement resulted in a steep decline in global oil prices. On April 12, 2020, the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia and the Russian
Federation agreed on oil production cuts, which will begin on May 1, 2020. Additionally, the reduction in worldwide consumption as a result of the coronavirus
pandemic has added further downward pressure to oil prices. In response to the decrease in oil prices, international oil companies have announced capital spending budget
cuts that are reported to be approximately 30%. At this time the impact of the anticipated reduction in capital spending on the Company's results of operations is
uncertain. Generally, when the prices for crude oil and natural gas are higher, demand for the Company’s products increases and the Company is able to negotiate higher
prices. On the other hand, when the prices of crude oil and natural gas are lower, demand for the Company’s products decreases and the Company is forced to compete
with lower prices and other concessions. Volatility in these commodity prices can also result in circumstances where demand for the Company’s products is suddenly high,
but the Company is unable to negotiate higher prices, thereby adversely impacting the Company’s margins and capacity to accept new projects at higher margins. At
current commodity prices it is expected that oil and gas customers may drastically cut capital spending and/or delay spending until projects are economically viable.



The Company's results in fiscal 2020 may not comply with all covenants in its Senior Credit Facility. In response to the extraordinary steps taken to combat the spread
of COVID-19 and the impact of decreased demand for oil and the associated collapse of oil prices, the Company undertook a reforecast to determine the potential financial
impact of these events on the Company’s results of operations. The results of the reforecast indicated a risk that the Company could be out of compliance with a debt
covenant related to the Senior Credit Facility (as defined below) in the second quarter of 2020. To address the possible covenant compliance issue the Company has made
plans to reduce planned capital expenditures and non-essential operating expenses, and if necessary, to repatriate foreign cash to bring the covenant into compliance.

The Company may be unable to repay its debt or renew its expiring credit facilities. There is a substantial risk that the Company may not be able to remain in compliance
with its credit agreement covenants due to, among other matters, the expected impact on the Company's results of operations and financial condition resulting from the
COVID-19 pandemic and the current depressed market for oil and gas. If there were an event of default under the Company's current revolving credit facilities, including as
set forth above, the lenders could cause all amounts outstanding with respect to that debt to be due and payable immediately. The Company cannot assure that its cash
flow will be sufficient to fully repay amounts due under any of the financing arrangements, if accelerated upon an event of default, or, that the Company would be able to
repay, refinance or restructure the payments under any such arrangements. Complying with the covenants under the Company's domestic and/or foreign revolving credit
facilities may limit management's discretion by restricting options such as:

. incurring additional debt;

. entering into transactions with affiliates;

. making investments or other restricted payments;

. repurchasing of the Company's shares;

. paying dividends, capital returns, intercompany obligations and other forms of repatriation; and
. creating liens.

The Company’s credit arrangements used by its Middle Eastern subsidiaries are renewed on an annual basis. In addition to these credit arrangements, the Company also
obtains project financing in the Middle East on a project-by-project basis. While the Company believes that it will be able to renew its Middle East credit

arrangements and will have continued access to individual project financing, there is no assurance that such arrangements will be renewed or made available in similar
amounts or on similar terms and conditions as the current arrangements, or that such individual project financing will be available for projects that the

Company is interested in pursuing.

Any replacement credit arrangements outside of the United States may further limit the Company’s ability to repatriate funds from abroad. Repatriation of funds from
certain countries may become limited based upon regulatory restrictions or economically unfeasible because of the taxation of funds when moved to another

subsidiary or to the parent company. In addition, any refinancing, replacement or additional financing the Company may obtain could contain similar or more restrictive
covenants than those currently applicable to the Company. The Company’s ability to comply with any covenants may be adversely affected by general

economic conditions, political decisions, industry conditions and other events beyond management’s control.

The Company incurred net losses for its three fiscal years prior to 2019 and it may be unable to maintain its 2019 levels of profitability or positive cash flows in the
future. The Company experienced net losses for its three fiscal years prior to 2019. Generating net income and positive cash flows in the future will depend

on the Company's ability to successfully complete and execute its strategic plan. There is no guarantee that the Company will be able to maintain its 2019 levels
of profitability or positive cash flows in the future. The Company’s inability to successfully maintain profitability and positive cash flows may result in it

experiencing a serious liquidity deficiency resulting in material adverse consequences that could threaten its viability.

Global economic weakness and volatility would likely adversely affect operating margins for the Company’s services and products. If the global economy experiences a
severe and prolonged downturn, it would likely adversely impact the Company's business. Downturns in such general economic conditions can significantly affect the
business of the Company's customers, which in turn affects demand, volume, pricing, and operating margins for the Company's services and products. A downturn in one
or more of the Company's significant markets would likely have a material adverse effect on the Company's business, results of operations, financial condition and cash
flows. Because economic and market conditions vary within the Company's geographic regions, the Company's performance will also vary. In addition, the Company is
exposed to fluctuations in currency exchange rates and commodity prices, including rising steel prices and surcharges and lower oil and natural gas prices.



Fluctuations in the availability of, and price of steel, may affect the Company's results of operations. The steel industry is highly cyclical in nature, and at times, pricing
can be highly volatile due to a number of factors beyond the Company's control, including general economic conditions, import duties, other trade restrictions and
currency exchange rates. This volatility may negatively impact market conditions thus reducing project activity and the Company's results of operations.

Through a series of Presidential Proclamations pursuant to Section 232 of the Trade Expansion Act of 1962, as of the date of this filing, U.S. imports of certain steel
products are subject to a 25% tariff (exceptions are Australia, Argentina, Brazil and South Korea imports), with retaliatory tariffs imposed by importing countries. These
tariffs could lead to increased steel costs and decreased supply availability.

The Company regularly updates its quoting system for the movements in steel prices, and attempts to recover these price differentials through price increases in the
Company's products; however, the Company is not always successful. Any increase in steel prices that is not offset by an increase in the Company's prices that is
accepted by customers could have an adverse effect on the Company's business, results of operations, financial position and cash flows. In addition, if the Company is
unable to acquire timely steel supplies, it may need to decline bid and order opportunities, which could also have an adverse effect on the Company's business, results of
operations, financial position and cash flows.

Delays in the timing of orders for the Company’s products may negatively impact the Company’s operating results. Since the Company's revenues are based on discrete
projects, the Company's operating results in any reporting period could be negatively impacted as a result of large variations in the level of overall market demand or delays
in the timing of project execution phases.

Decreases in government spending on projects using the Company’s products, and challenges to the Company’s non-government customers’ liquidity and availability
of capital funds, may adversely impact demand for the Company’s products. Uncertainty about economic market conditions poses risks that the Company's customers
may postpone spending for capital improvement and maintenance projects in response to tighter credit markets or negative financial news, which could have a material
adverse effect on the demand for the Company's products. Decreases in U.S. federal and state spending on projects using the Company's products can have negative
impact on sales volume from the Company's domestic facilities. Governmental spending on large infrastructure projects in the Gulf Cooperation Council ("GCC") countries
vary and spending has in the past been curtailed or delayed as a result of reduced public spending budgets in countries which are dependent on oil and gas revenues and
their respective price levels.

The Company may not be able to successfully negotiate progress-billing arrangements for its large contracts, which could adversely impact the Company’s working
capital needs and credit risk. The Company sells systems and products under contracts that allow the Company to either bill upon the completion of certain agreed upon
milestones, or upon actual shipment of the system or product. The Company attempts to negotiate progress-billing milestones on large contracts to help manage its
working capital and to reduce the credit risk associated with these large contracts. Consequently, shifts in the billing terms of the contracts in the backlog from period to
period can increase the Company's requirements for working capital and can increase its exposure to credit risk.

Aggressive pricing by existing competitors and the entrance of new competitors in the markets in which the Company operates could drive down the Company's
profits and reduce the Company's revenue. The Company's business is highly competitive. Some of the Company's competitors are larger and have more resources than
the Company. Additionally, many of the Company's products are also subject to competition from alternative technologies and alternative products. In periods of declining
demand, the Company's fixed cost structure may limit its ability to cut costs, which may be a competitive disadvantage compared to companies with more flexible cost
structures, or may result in reduced operating margins, operating losses and negative cash flows.

The Company may be unable to purchase raw materials at favorable prices, or maintain beneficial relationships with its suppliers, which could result in a shortage of
supply, or increased pricing. To the extent the Company relies upon a single source for key components of several of its products, the Company believes there are
alternate sources available for such components. However, there can be no assurance that the interruption of supplies of such components would not have an adverse
effect on the financial condition of the Company and that the Company, if required to do so, would be able to negotiate agreements with alternative sources on acceptable
terms.

The Company may be subject to claims for damages for defective products. The Company warrants its products to be free of certain defects. The Company has, from time
to time, had claims alleging defects in its products. The Company cannot be certain it will not experience material product liability losses in the future or that it will not incur
significant costs to defend such claims. While the Company currently has product liability insurance, the Company cannot be certain that its product liability insurance
coverage will be adequate for liabilities that may be incurred in the future or that such coverage will continue to be available to the Company on commercially reasonable
terms. Any claims relating to defective products that result in liabilities exceeding the Company's insurance coverage could have a material adverse effect on the
Company's business, results of operations financial position and cash flows.



The Company may not be able to recover costs and damages from vendors that supply defective materials. The Company may receive defective materials from its
vendors that are incorporated into the Company's products during the manufacturing process. The cost to repair, remake or replace defective products could be greater
than the amount that can be recovered from the vendor. Such excess costs could have an adverse effect on the Company's business, results of operations, financial
position and cash flows.

Product and service orders included in the Company’s backlog may be reduced or cancelled. The Company defines backlog as the revenue value resulting from
confirmed customer purchase orders that have not yet been recognized as revenue. However, by industry practice, orders may be canceled or modified at any time. If a
customer cancels an order, the customer is normally responsible for all finished goods produced or shipped, all direct and indirect costs incurred and also for a reasonable
allowance for anticipated profits. No assurance can be given that these amounts will be recovered after cancellation. Any cancellation or delay in orders may result in lower
than expected revenue.

The Company's results of operations could be adversely affected by changes in international regulations and other activities of U.S. and non-U.S. governmental
agencies related to the Company’s international operations. International sales represent a significant portion of the Company's total sales. The Company's sales to
foreign customers decreased to 55.6% in 2019 from 61.0% in 2018. The Company's anticipated growth and profitability may require increasing foreign sales volume and may
necessitate further international expansion. The Company's results of operations could be adversely affected by changes in trade, monetary and fiscal policies, laws and
regulations, other activities of U.S. and non-U.S. governments, agencies and similar organizations, and other factors. These factors include, but are not limited to, changes
in a country's or region's economic or political conditions, trade regulations affecting production, pricing and marketing of products, local labor conditions and regulations,
reduced protection of intellectual property rights in some countries, changes in the regulatory or legal environment, restrictions on currency exchange activities,
burdensome taxes and tariffs and other trade barriers. International risks and uncertainties, including changing social and economic conditions as well as terrorism, political
hostilities and war, could lead to reduced international sales and reduced profitability associated with such sales. In addition, these risks can include extraordinarily delayed
collections of accounts receivable. Because the Company conducts a significant portion of its business activities in the Middle East, the political and economic events of
the countries that comprise the GCC can have a material effect on the Company’s business, results of operations, financial condition and cash flows.

Due to the international scope of the Company’s operations, it is subject to a complex system of commercial and trade regulations around the world. Recent years have
seen an increase in the development and enforcement of laws regarding trade compliance anti-corruption, such as the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act and similar laws
from other countries as well as new regulatory requirements regarding data privacy. The Company’s foreign subsidiaries are governed by laws, rules and business practices
that differ from those of the U.S. If the activities of these entities do not comply with U.S. laws or business practices or the Company’s Code of Business Conduct, then
violations of these laws may result in severe criminal or civil sanctions, which could disrupt the Company’s business, and result in an adverse effect on the Company’s
reputation, business and results of operations or financial condition. The Company cannot predict the nature, scope or effect of future regulatory requirements to which its
operations might be subject or the manner in which existing laws might be administered or interpreted.

The Company may be unable to attract and retain its senior management and key personnel. The Company's ability to meet its strategic and financial goals will depend
to a significant extent on the continued contributions of its senior management and key personnel. Future success will also depend in large part on the Company's ability to
identify, attract, motivate, effectively utilize and retain highly qualified managerial, sales, marketing and technical personnel. The loss of senior management or other key
personnel or the inability to identify, attract and retain qualified personnel in the future could make it more difficult to manage the Company's business and could adversely
affect operations and financial results.

The Company may not be able to achieve the expected benefits from its growth initiatives. The Company's cyclical or general expansion may result in unanticipated
adverse consequences, including significant strain on management, operations and financial systems, as well as on the Company's ability to attract and retain competent
employees. In the future, the Company may seek to grow its business by investing in new or existing facilities, making acquisitions, entering into partnerships and joint
ventures, or constructing new facilities, which could entail a number of additional risks, including:

*  strain on working capital;

» diversion of management's attention away from other activities, which could impair the operation of existing businesses;
» failure to successfully integrate the acquired businesses or facilities into existing operations;

*  inability to maintain key pre-acquisition business relationships;

* loss of key personnel of the acquired business or facility;

*  exposure to unanticipated liabilities; and

« failure to realize efficiencies, synergies and cost savings.

As aresult of these and other factors, including general economic risks, the Company may not be able to realize the expected benefits from future acquisitions, new facility
developments, partnerships, joint ventures or other investments.



The Company may be impacted by interpretations and changes in tax regulations and legislation which could adversely affect the Company's results of
operations. Tax interpretations, regulations and legislation in the various jurisdictions in which the Company operates are subject to measurement uncertainty and the
interpretations can impact net income, income tax expense or recovery, and deferred income tax assets or liabilities. Tax rules and regulations, including those relating to
foreign jurisdictions, are subject to interpretation and require judgment by the Company that may be challenged by the applicable taxation authorities upon
audit. Although the Company believes its assumptions, judgements and estimates are reasonable, changes in tax laws or the Company's interpretation of tax laws and the
resolution of any tax audits could significantly impact the amounts provided for income taxes in the Company's consolidated financial statements.

The Company may be required to reverse previously recorded revenue and profits as a result of inaccurate estimates made in connection with the Company’s
percentage-of-completion revenue recognition. Certain domestic divisions have contracts that recognize revenues using periodic recognition of income. For these
contracts, the Company uses the "percentage of completion" accounting method. This methodology allows revenue and profits to be recognized proportionally over the
life of a contract by comparing the amount of the cost incurred to date against the total amount of cost expected to be incurred. The effect of revisions to revenue and total
estimated cost is recorded when the amounts are known or can be reasonably estimated. These revisions can occur at any time and could be material. On a historical basis,
management believes that reasonably reliable estimates of the progress towards completion on long-term contracts have been made. However, given the uncertainties
associated with these types of contracts, it is possible for actual cost to vary from estimates previously made, which may result in reductions or reversals of previously
recorded revenue and profits.

The Company’s failure to establish and maintain effective internal control over financial reporting could harm its business and financial results. The Company’s
management is responsible for establishing and maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting. Internal control over financial reporting is a process to
provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting for external purposes in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States. Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting is not intended to provide absolute assurance that the Company would prevent or detect
a misstatement of its financial statements or fraud.

As of January 31, 2020, the Company’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that the Company’s internal control over financial reporting was not
effective due to an identified material weakness. The material weakness resulted from an accounting error identified by the Company’s auditors during the audit of the
Company’s financial statements for the fiscal year ended January 31, 2020 related to the Company's revenue recognition under percentage of completion accounting.
Specifically, the Company had improperly recognized revenue for an open project based on imputed sales amounts greater than the total contracted amount. The
accounting error related to this one project was attributable to the Company’s deviation from its standard contract accounting policies and failure to recognize the error
during monthly reviews. A material weakness is defined as a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over financial reporting, such that there is a
reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the annual or interim financial statements will not be prevented or detected on a timely basis. If the current material
weakness is not remediated, or if additional material weaknesses or significant deficiencies in the Company’s internal control over financial reporting are discovered or
occur in the future, the Company’s consolidated financial statements may contain material misstatements and the Company could be required to restate its financial results.
The failure to maintain an effective system of internal control over financial reporting could limit the Company’s ability to report its financial results accurately and in a
timely manner or to detect and prevent fraud and could also cause a loss of investor confidence and decline in the market price of the Company’s common stock. See
further discussion of the material weakness, including the Company's planned remediation procedures, in Item 9A., Controls and Procedures.



The Company's information technology systems may be negatively affected by cybersecurity threats. The Company faces risks relating to cybersecurity attacks that
could cause the loss of confidential information and other business disruptions. The Company relies extensively on computer systems to process transactions and manage
its business, and its business is at risk from and may be impacted by cybersecurity attacks. These could include attempts to gain unauthorized access to data and computer
systems. Attacks can be both individual and/ or highly organized attempts organized by very sophisticated hacking organizations. The Company employs a number of
measures to prevent, detect and mitigate these threats, which include password encryption, frequent password change events, firewall detection systems, anti-virus
software in-place and frequent backups; however, there is no guarantee such efforts will be successful in preventing a cyber-attack. A successful attack could disrupt and
otherwise adversely affect the Company's reputation and results of operations, including through lawsuits by third-parties.

Item 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS - None.

Item 2. PROPERTIES

Location Leased or Owned

[llinois Leased production facilities and office space

Louisiana Owned production facilities and leased land

Tennessee Owned production facilities and office space

Texas Leased office space

Canada Owned production facilities with office space on owned land, leased land and leased office space
India Leased production facilities, office space and land
Kingdom of Saudi Arabia Owned production facilities on leased land

United Arab Emirates Leased office space and production facilities on leased land
Egypt Leased production facilities and office space

For further information, see Note 7 - Lease information, in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
Item 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS - As of January 31, 2020, the Company had no material pending litigation.

Item 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES - Not applicable.
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PARTII
Item 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES
The Company's common stock is traded on the Nasdaq Global Market under the symbol "PPTH".
As of April 1, 2020, there were approximately 59 stockholders of record and other additional stockholders for whom securities firms acted as nominees.
The Company has never declared or paid a cash dividend and does not anticipate paying any cash dividends on its common stock in the foreseeable future. Management
presently intends to retain all available funds for the development of the Company's business and for use as working capital. The Company's credit facilities also restrict
dividend payments. Future dividend policy will depend upon the Company's earnings, capital requirements, financial condition, credit agreement restrictions and other
relevant factors. For further information, see "Financing" in Item 7 and Note 6 - Debt, in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
The Company has not made any sale of unregistered securities during the preceding three fiscal years.

The Company did not make any purchases of its common stock during fiscal 2019.

The Transfer Agent and Registrar for the Company's common stock is Broadridge Corporate Issuer Solutions, Inc., P.O. Box 1342 Brentwood, NY 11717, (877) 830-
4936 or (720) 378-5591.
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Item 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA - Not applicable.
Ttem 7. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
General

Certain statements contained in this Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations ("MD&A"), which can be identified by the
use of forward-looking terminology such as "may," "will," "expect," "continue," "remains," "intend," "aim," "should," "prospects," "could," "future," "potential,"
"believes," "plans," "likely," and "probable," or the negative thereof or other variations thereon or comparable terminology, constitute "forward-looking statements" within
the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and Section 21E of the Exchange Act and are subject to the safe harbors created thereby. These
statements should be considered as subject to the many risks and uncertainties that exist in the Company's operations and business environment. Such risks and
uncertainties could cause actual results to differ materially from those projected as a result of many factors, including, but not limited to, those under the headings
Cautionary Statements Regarding Forward Looking Information and Item 1A. Risk Factors.

non "o "o

The Company is engaged in the manufacture and sale of products in one reportable segment: Piping Systems. Since the Company's revenues are significantly
dependent upon large discrete projects, the Company's operating results in any reporting period could be negatively impacted as a result of variations in the level of the
Company's large discrete project orders or delays in the timing of the specific project phases.

COVID-19

In January 2020, an outbreak of novel coronavirus (also known as COVID-19) started in Wuhan, China. The virus was recognized as a pandemic by the World Health
Organization on March 11, 2020. In response to the rapid spread of the virus, national and local governments have instituted varying levels of actions to contain the virus's
spread.

As of this date, all of the Company’s plants are operating with the exception of the plant located in India. On March 24, 2020 the India plant operations were suspended in
compliance with a national 21-day shutdown which has now been extended through April 21, 2020. We do not expect a shut down over this period to significantly impact
our planned production schedules.

To date our global supply chains have not been materially affected by the global pandemic. Due to the unprecedented actions taken to stem the spread of the virus and the
uncertainty of the duration and impact of additional actions that may be required, the resulting future disruptions to the Company’s operations is uncertain.

In response to the extraordinary steps taken to combat the spread of COVID-19 and the impact of decreased demand for oil and the associated collapse of oil prices, the
Company undertook a reforecast to determine the potential financial impact of these events on the Company’s results of operations. The results of the reforecast indicated
a risk that the Company could be out of compliance with a debt covenant related to the Senior Credit Facility in the second quarter of 2020. To address the possible
covenant compliance issue the Company has made plans to reduce planned capital expenditures and non-essential operating expenses, and if necessary, to repatriate
foreign cash to bring the covenant into compliance.

In addition, the Company has applied for funding under two Small Business Administration programs. The Paycheck Protection Program provides forgivable funding for
payroll and related costs as well as some non-payroll costs. The Company has applied for funding in the amount of $3.2 million. The Company has also applied for a Small
Business Administration Economic Disaster Loan which could be up to $2 million based on need and repayment capacity. There is no guarantee that the Company will
be granted funds under either program.

The Company’s expected results of operations and financial condition in 2020 will likely be adversely affected by the COVID-19 pandemic and the current depressed market
prices for oil and gas. See Item 1A. Risk Factors for additional information.

Results of Operations
The analysis presented below and discussed in more detail throughout this MD&A was organized to provide instructive information for better understanding the

Company's results of operations, financial condition and cash flows. However, this MD&A should be read in conjunction with the Consolidated Financial Statements in
Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, including the notes thereto and the risk factors contained herein.
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Consolidated Results of Operations:

%

Favorable
($ in thousands) 2019 2018 (Unfavorable)
Net sales $ 127,663  $ 128,965 (1.0%)
Gross profit 29,046 23,318 24.6%
Percentage of net sales 22.8% 18.1%
General and administrative expenses 17,875 15,357 (16.4%)
Percentage of net sales 14.0% 11.9%
Selling expense 5231 5,239 0.2%
Percentage of net sales 4.1% 4.1%
Interest expense, net 905 1,122 19.3%
Income from operations before income taxes 5,035 1,600 214.7%
Income tax expense 1,459 2,150 32.1%
Net income/(loss) 3,576 (550) 750.2%

2019 Compared to 2018
Net sales:

Net sales were $127.7 million in 2019, a decrease of $1.3 million, or 1.0%, from $129.0 million in 2018. Increased revenue in the U.S., Middle East and the expansion into Egypt
along with higher demand for leak detection products were offset by lower project revenue in the Canadian operation.

Gross profit:

Gross profit increased to $29.0 million, or 22.8% of net sales, in 2019, an increase of $5.7 million, or 24.6%, from $23.3 million, or 18.1% of net sales, in 2018. This increase was
primarily driven by higher project margins in the Middle East.

General and administrative expenses:

General and administrative expenses were $17.9 million in 2019 compared to $15.4 million in 2018, an increase of $2.5 million, or 16.4%. This increase was primarily the result
of the establishment of the Company's offices in Egypt, relocation of certain corporate personnel to the Company's offices in Spring, Texas and additional incentive
compensation related to improved earnings

Selling expenses:

Selling expenses remained flat at $5.2 million in 2019 and 2018.
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Interest expense:
Interest expense decreased to $0.9 million in 2019 from $1.1 million in 2018 due to lower net borrowings and decreased interest rates during 2019.
Income from operations before income taxes:

Income from operations before income taxes improved to $5.0 million in 2019 compared to a $1.6 million in 2018. The increase was primarily driven by project margin
improvements in the Middle East, increased demand for leak detection products, expansion into Egypt and higher sales volume in the U.S.

Income taxes:

The Company's worldwide effective tax rates ("ETR") were 29.0% and 134.4% in 2019 and 2018, respectively. The change in the ETR from the prior year to the current year
was largely due to the overall increase in worldwide pretax book income in low tax or non-taxable jurisdictions. Additional factors included the Company's valuation
allowance against the domestic deferred tax asset and the change in the amounts of income in various jurisdictions between the years. The unusually large ETR incurred in
2018 was largely due to the overall low pretax income. Due to this, even relatively small changes to ordinary income have a large impact to the ETR.

As a result of the provisions from the U.S. Tax Cuts and Jobs Act of 2017 (“Tax Act”), the Company expects that future distributions from foreign subsidiaries will no
longer be subject to incremental U.S. federal tax as they will either be remittances of previously taxed earnings and profits or eligible for a full dividends received deduction.
Current and future earnings in the Company's subsidiaries in Canada and Egypt are not permanently reinvested, and earnings in its Indian subsidiary are partially
permanently reinvested. The earnings from these subsidiaries will be subject to tax in their local jurisdiction, and the impact of the India dividend distribution tax, Canadian
withholding taxes, and Egyptian withholding taxes will be considered. As such, the Company has accrued a liability of $0.2 million in 2019 related to these taxes.

For further information, see Note 8 - Income taxes, in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Net income/(loss):

The resulting net income of $3.6 million in 2019 was a $4.2 million improvement over the net loss of $0.6 million in 2018. This increase was primarily the result of project
margin improvements in the Middle East, increased demand for leak detection, expansion into Egypt and higher sales volume in the U.S.

Liquidity and capital resources

Cash and cash equivalents as of January 31, 2020 and 2019 were $13.4 million and $10.2 million, respectively. On January 31, 2020, $0.4 million was held in the U.S. and
$13.0 million was held by the Company's foreign subsidiaries. The Company's working capital was $31.4 million on January 31, 2020 compared to $25.9 million on January 31,
2019. Of the working capital components, cash increased $3.2 million primarily as a result of increased accounts receivable collections. Cash provided by operations was
$4.1 million in 2019 compared to $5.0 million in 2018. This decrease of $0.9 million was due primarily to the Company purchasing inventory for projects, offset by collections
of accounts receivable and an increase in net income during the period.

Net cash used in investing activities during 2019 and 2018 was $1.9 million and $1.4 million, respectively. This increase was due to an increase in investments in fixed assets
needed for the operation of the business, primarily related to the opening of the Company's facility in Egypt.

Net cash used in financing activities in 2019 was $0.3 million as compared to cash provided by financing activities in 2018 of $1.1 million. The primary reason for this change
was that during 2018 the Company's borrowings exceeded its repayments under its revolving credit facility by approximately $2.0 million, whereas during 2019, borrowings
exceeded repayments by approximately $0.3 million. Debt totaled $16.9 million as of January 31, 2020. Since the Company generated cash from operations, the Company
required less cash to be provided by financing activities. For additional information, see Note 6 - Debt, in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

There was no restricted cash held in the U.S. on January 31, 2020. Restricted cash held in the U.S. on January 31, 2019 was $1.5 million, all of which was a cash

collateral held by PNC Bank in relation to the Company's credit agreement. Restricted cash held by foreign subsidiaries was $1.3 million and $1.1 million as of January 31,
2020 and 2019, respectively. Restricted cash held by foreign subsidiaries related to fixed deposits that also serve as security deposits and guarantees.

15



The following table summarizes the Company's estimated contractual obligations on January 31, 2020.

($ in thousands) Year Ending January 31,
Contractual obligations Total 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 Thereafter
Revolving line - North America (1) $ 8577 $ 8577 $ - 8 - S - 8 - 8 =
Mortgages (2) 10,620 733 718 703 688 674 7,104
Revolving line - foreign (3) 732 732 - - - - -
Subtotal 19,929 10,042 718 703 688 674 7,104
Finance lease obligations 1,232 487 331 269 145 - -
Operating lease obligations (4) 17,496 2,312 2,315 2,180 2,012 1,319 7,358
Employment agreements (5) 2,296 - - - - - 2,296
Uncertain tax position obligations (6) 452 - - - - - 452
Total $ 41,405 § 12,841 § 3,364 $ 3,152 § 2,845 $ 1,993 § 17,210

(1) Interest obligations exclude floating rate interest on debt payable under the North American revolving line of credit. Based on the amount of such debt on January 31,
2020, and the weighted average interest rate of 6.04% on that debt, such interest was being incurred at an annual rate of approximately $0.5 million.

(2) Scheduled maturities, including interest.

(3) Scheduled maturities of foreign revolver line, including interest.

(4) Minimum contractual amounts, assuming no changes in variable expenses.

(5) Refer to the Exhibit Index for a description of compensation and separation plans.

(6) Refer to Note 8 - Income taxes, in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for a description of the uncertain tax position obligations.

Financing

Revolving line - North America. On September 20, 2018, the Company and certain of its U.S. and Canadian subsidiaries (collectively, together with the Company, the
“North American Loan Parties”) entered into a new Revolving Credit and Security Agreement (the “Credit Agreement”) with PNC Bank, National Association, as
administrative agent and lender (“PNC”), providing for a new three-year $18 million Senior Secured Revolving Credit Facility, subject to a borrowing base including various
reserves (the “Senior Credit Facility”). The Senior Credit Facility replaced the Company’s then existing $15 million Credit and Security Agreement, dated September 24, 2014,
among various subsidiaries of the Company and Bank of Montreal, as successor by assignment to BMO Harris Bank N.A., as amended (the “Prior Credit Agreement”).

The Company initially used borrowings under the new Senior Credit Facility to pay off outstanding amounts under the Prior Credit Agreement (which totaled
approximately USD $3,773,823 plus CAD 4,794,528) and cash collateralize a letter of credit (USD $154,500). The Company has used proceeds from the new Senior Credit
Facility for on-going working capital needs, and expects to continue using this facility to fund future capital expenditures, working capital needs, and other corporate
purposes. Borrowings under the Senior Credit Facility bear interest at a rate equal to an alternate base rate or London Interbank Offered Rate ("LIBOR"), plus, in each case,
an applicable margin. The applicable margin is based on average quarterly undrawn availability with respect to the Senior Credit Facility. Interest on alternate base rate
borrowings are generally payable monthly in arrears and interest on LIBOR borrowings are generally be payable in arrears on the last day of each interest period.
Additionally, the Company is required to pay a 0.375% per annum facility fee on the unused portion of the Senior Credit Facility. The facility fee is payable quarterly in
arrears.

Subject to certain exceptions, borrowings under the Senior Credit Facility are secured by substantially all of the assets of the Company and certain of its North
American subsidiaries. The North American Loan Parties’ obligations under the Senior Credit Facility are guaranteed by Perma-Pipe Canada, Inc. The Senior Credit Facility
will mature on September 20, 2021. Subject to certain qualifications and exceptions, the Senior Credit Facility contains covenants that, among other things, restrict the North
American Loan Parties’ ability to create liens, merge or consolidate, consummate acquisitions, make investments, dispose of assets, incur debt, and pay dividends and
other distributions. In addition, the North American Loan Parties cannot allow capital expenditures to exceed $3 million annually (plus a limited carryover of unused
amounts).

The Senior Credit Facility also contains financial covenants requiring (i) the North America Loan Parties to achieve EBITDA of at least $2,462,000 for the period from
August 1, 2018 through January 31, 2019; (ii) the North America Loan Parties to achieve a ratio of its EBITDA (with certain additional adjustments) to the sum of scheduled
cash principal payments on indebtedness for borrowed money and interest payments on the advances under the Senior Credit Facility (excluding from the calculation items
related to the financial performance of the Company’s foreign subsidiaries not party to the Credit Agreement) to be not less than 1.10 to 1.00 for the nine-month period
ending April 30, 2019 and for the quarter ending July 31, 2019 and each quarter end thereafter on a trailing four-quarter basis; and (iii) the Company and its subsidiaries
(including the Company’s foreign subsidiaries not party to the Credit Agreement) to achieve a ratio of its EBITDA (with certain additional adjustments) to the sum of
scheduled cash principal payments on indebtedness for borrowed money and interest payments on the advances under the Senior Credit Facility of not less than 1.10 to
1.00 for the nine-month period ending October 31, 2018 and for the quarter ending January 31, 2019 and each quarter end thereafter on a trailing four-quarter basis. The
Company was in compliance with these covenants as of January 31, 2020.
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As of January 31, 2020, the Company had borrowed an aggregate of $8.6 million at a weighted average interest rate of 6.04%, and had $3.4 million available under the Senior
Credit Facility.

Revolving lines - foreign. The Company also has credit arrangements used by its Middle Eastern subsidiaries in the U.A.E. These credit arrangements are in the form of
overdraft facilities and project financing at rates competitive in the countries in which the Company operates. The lines are secured by certain equipment, certain assets
(such as accounts receivable and inventory), and a guarantee by the Company. Some credit arrangement covenants require a minimum tangible net worth to be maintained,
including maintaining certain levels of intercompany subordinated debt. In addition, some of the revolving credit facilities restrict payment of dividends or undertaking of
additional debt. In November 2019, the Company's Egyptian subsidiary entered into credit arrangement with a bank in Egypt for a revolving line of 200.0 million Egyptian
Pounds (approximately USD $12.6 million at January 31, 2020). This credit arrangement is in the form of project financing at rates competitive in Egypt. The line is secured
by certain assets (such as accounts receivable). Among other covenants, the credit arrangement establishes a maximum leverage ratio allowable and restricts the ability to
undertake any additional debt. On January 31, 2020, the Company was in compliance with the covenants under these credit arrangements. On January 31, 2020, interest
rates were based on the EIBOR plus 3.5% per annum, with a minimum interest rate of 4.5% per annum for the U.A.E. credit arrangements and based on the CBE corridor rate
plus 1.5% per annum for the Egypt credit arrangement. On January 31, 2020, the Company's interest rates ranged from 5.4% to 16.3%, with a weighted average rate of 5.9%,
and the Company could borrow $21.6 million under these credit arrangements. On January 31, 2020, $4.2 million of availability was used to support letters of credit to
guarantee amounts committed for inventory purchases and for performance guarantees. On January 31, 2020, the Company had borrowed $0.7 million, and had an
additional $16.8 million available. The foreign revolving lines balances as of January 31, 2020 and 2019, were included as current maturities of long-term debt in the
Company's consolidated balance sheets. The Company’s credit arrangements used by its Middle Eastern subsidiaries renew on an annual basis.

Accounts receivable:

In 2013, the Company started a project in the Middle East as a sub-contractor, with billings in the aggregate amount of approximately $41.9 million. The Company completed
all of its deliverables in 2015, and has since then collected approximately $37.8 million, with a remaining balance due in the amount of $4.1 million. Included in this balance is
an amount of $3.6 million, which pertains to retention clauses within the agreements of the Company's customer (contractor), and which become payable by the customer
when this project is fully tested and commissioned. In the absence of a firm date for the final commissioning of the project, and due to the long-term nature of this
receivable, $2.1 million of this retention amount was reclassified to a long-term receivable account.

The Company has been engaged in ongoing active efforts to collect the outstanding amount, and has collected $0.5 million during fiscal year 2019, and has certified
invoices of $0.5 million in the process of collection subsequent to January 31, 2020. The Company has also received an updated acknowledgment of the outstanding
balances and assurances of payment from the customer. As a result, the Company did not reserve any allowance against this amount as of January 31, 2020. However, if the
Company’s efforts to collect on this account are not successful in fiscal 2020, then the Company may be required to recognize an allowance for all, or substantially all, of
any such then uncollected amounts in the future.

Critical accounting estimates and policies

The Company's significant accounting policies are discussed in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
The application of certain of these policies requires significant judgments or a historical based estimation process that can affect the results of operations and financial
position of the Company, as well as the related footnote disclosures. The Company bases its estimates on historical experience and other assumptions that it believes are
reasonable. If actual amounts ultimately differ from previous estimates, the revisions are included in the Company's results of operations for the period in which the actual
amounts become known.

Revenue recognition. During 2019 and 2018, and in accordance with Accounting Standards Update No. 2014-19, “Revenue from Contracts with Customers” (“ASC 606”),
the Company recognizes revenue when a customer obtains control of promised goods or services. See Note 5 - Revenue Recognition for more detail.

*Percentage of completion revenue recognition. Certain domestic divisions have contracts that recognize revenues using periodic recognition of income. For these
contracts, the Company uses the "percentage of completion" accounting method. Under this approach, income is recognized in each reporting period based on the
status of the uncompleted contracts and the current estimates of costs to complete. The choice of accounting method is made at the time the contract is received
based on the expected length and complexity of the project. The percentage of completion is determined by the relationship of costs incurred to the total estimated
costs of the contract. Provisions are made for estimated losses on uncompleted contracts in the period in which such losses are determined. Changes in job
performance, job conditions, and estimated profitability, including those arising from contract penalty provisions and final contract settlements, may result in
revisions to costs and income. Such revisions are recognized in the period in which they are determined. Claims for additional compensation due to the Company are
recognized in contract revenues when realization is probable and the amount can be reliably estimated.
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Inventories. Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or net realizable value. Cost is determined using the first-in, first-out method for all inventories.

Income taxes. Deferred income taxes have been provided for temporary differences arising from differences in the basis of assets and liabilities for tax and financial
reporting purposes. Deferred income taxes on temporary differences have been recorded at the current tax rate. The Company assesses its deferred tax assets for
realizability at each reporting period.

The Company recognizes the financial statement benefit of a tax position only after determining that the relevant tax authority would more likely than not sustain the
position following an audit. For tax positions meeting the more likely than not threshold, the amount recognized in the financial statements is a significant benefit that has a
greater than 50% likelihood of being realized upon ultimate settlement with the relevant tax authority.

Fair value of financial instruments. The carrying values of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable and accounts payable are based upon reasonable estimates of
their fair value due to their short-term nature. The carrying amount of the Company's short-term debt, revolving line of credit and long-term debt approximate fair value
because the majority of the amounts outstanding accrue interest at variable rates.

New accounting pronouncements. See Recent accounting pronouncements in Note 2 - Significant accounting policies, in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
Item 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK - Not applicable.

Item8.  FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

The consolidated financial statements of the Company for each of the two years in the periods ended as of January 31, 2020 and 2019 and the notes thereto are set forth as
an exhibit hereto.

Item 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE - None.

18



Item 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures. The Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have evaluated the effectiveness of the Company's disclosure
controls and procedures (as defined in Rule 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) under the Exchange Act as of January 31, 2020. This evaluation included consideration of the controls,
processes and procedures that are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by the Company in the reports the Company files or submits under the
Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms, and to provide reasonable assurance that
such information is accumulated and communicated to the Company’s management, including its Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate to allow
timely decisions regarding required disclosure. Management has identified a material weakness in the Company's internal control over financial reporting that resulted from
an accounting error identified by the Company’s auditors during the audit of the Company’s financial statements for the fiscal year ended January 31, 2020 related to the
Company’s revenue recognition under percentage of completion accounting. Specifically, the Company had improperly recognized revenue for an open project based on
imputed sales amounts greater than the total contracted amount. This accounting error was attributable to the Company’s deviation from its standard contract accounting
policies and failure to recognize the error during monthly revenue reviews.

As described below, the Company will adopt and implement policies and procedures to ensure that personnel will not deviate from the Company's standard accounting
policies and monthly reviews will result in appropriate revenue recognition. Notwithstanding the material weakness described above, the Company's management,
including its Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, have concluded that the financial statements included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K present fairly, in
all material respects, the Company's financial position, results of operations, and cash flows for the periods presented in conformity with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States.

Management's Annual Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting. The Company's management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate
internal control over financial reporting, as such term is defined in Rule 13a-15(f) under the Exchange Act. As required by Rule 13a-15(c) under the Exchange Act, the
Company's management carried out an evaluation, with the participation of the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, of the effectiveness of its internal control
over financial reporting as of January 31, 2020. The framework on which such evaluation was based is contained in the report entitled Internal Control-Integrated
Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission.

The Company's system of internal control over financial reporting is designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the
preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. Because of its inherent limitations, internal control
over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls
may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over financial reporting,
such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the Company's annual or interim financial statements will not be prevented or detected on a timely
basis.

The Company's auditors identified an accounting error during the audit of the Company's financial statements for the fiscal year ended January 31, 2020 related to the
Company's revenue recognition under percentage of completion accounting. Specifically, the Company had improperly recognized revenue for an open project based on
imputed sales amounts greater than the total contracted amount. The accounting error was attributable to the Company’s deviation from its standard contract accounting
policies and failure to recognize the error during monthly revenue reviews and led management to conclude that a material weakness existed with respect to the Company's
internal control over financial reporting.

Remediation Plan for the Material Weakness in Internal Control over Financial Reporting. To address the material weakness regarding the improper recognition of
revenue for open projects, the Company will do the following:

¢ Reinforce the importance of adherence to Company policies regarding entering into and subsequently modifying contracts with customers, and confirm in monthly
meetings with managers that no contracts have been entered into that deviate from Company’s accounting policies;

« Create additional reports to identify potential system errors and exceptions related to project revenues and costs where higher risk may exist for inappropriate revenue
recognition;

¢ Review listing of material request invoices each month to identify if any significant items are included and review with additional scrutiny for appropriate revenue
recognition;

« Ensure adherence to guidelines for preparation of the Company's monthly revenue and contribution margin presentation to include all components of a project in one
line to provide full visibility of total job performance; and

* Implement a monthly meeting prior to the gross profit meeting between accounting personnel to discuss and analyze the asset and liability work-in-process accounts to
identify any specific projects that require further investigation.

The Company anticipates the actions described above and resulting improvements in controls will strengthen the Company's processes, procedures and controls related to

revenue recognition under percentage of completion accounting and will address the related material weakness described above. However, the material weakness cannot be
considered fully remediated until the remediation processes have been in operation for a period of time and successfully tested.
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Item 9B. OTHER INFORMATION - None.
PART III
Item 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
Information with respect to this item is incorporated herein by reference to the Company's definitive proxy statement for its 2020 annual meeting of stockholders.
Information with respect to executive officers of the Company is included in Part I, Item 1, hereof under the caption "Executive Officers of the Registrant".
Item 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION
Information with respect to this item is incorporated herein by reference to the Company's definitive proxy statement for its 2020 annual meeting of stockholders.
Item 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS
Equity Compensation Plan Information
The following table provides information regarding the number of shares of common stock that may be issued upon exercise of outstanding options, warrants and rights
under the Company's equity compensation plans and the weighted average exercise price and number of shares of common stock remaining available for issuance under

those plans as of January 31, 2020.

Number of shares remaining
available for future issuance

Number of shares to be issued Weighted-average exercise under equity compensation plans
upon exercise of outstanding price of outstanding options, (excluding shares reflected in
options, warrants and rights warrants and rights column (a))
Plan Category (a)(1) (b)(1) (©)(2)
Equity compensation plans approved by stockholders 131,750 $ 8.98 191,904

(1) The amounts shown in columns (a) and (b) of the above table do not include 358,146 outstanding restricted stock granted under the Company's 2013
Omnibus Stock Incentive Plan as amended June 14, 2013 ("2013 Omnibus Plan") or the 2017 Omnibus Stock Incentive Plan as amended June 13, 2017 ("2017
Plan").
(2) Future grants will only be made out of the 2017 Plan until June 12, 2020.

The other information with respect to this item is incorporated herein by reference to the Company's definitive proxy statement for its 2020 annual meeting of stockholders.

Item 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

Information with respect to this item is incorporated herein by reference to the Company's definitive proxy statement for its 2020 annual meeting of stockholders.
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Item 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES

Information with respect to this item is incorporated herein by reference to the Company's definitive proxy statement for its 2020 annual meeting of stockholders.
PART IV

Item 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

a. List of documents filed as part of this report:
(1) Financial Statements - Consolidated Financial Statements of the Company
Refer to Part I, Item 8 of this report.
(2) Financial Statement Schedules
Schedule IT - Valuation and Qualifying Accounts
b. Exhibits: The exhibits, as listed in the Exhibit Index included herein, are submitted as a separate section of this report.
The response to this portion of Item 15 is submitted under 15a(2) above.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

Board of Directors and Stockholders
Perma-Pipe International Holdings, Inc.

Opinion on the financial statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Perma-Pipe International Holdings, Inc. (a Delaware corporation) and subsidiaries (the “Company”) as
of January 31, 2020 and 2019, the related consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive income/(loss), stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the two
years in the period ended January 31, 2020, and the related notes and financial statement schedule (collectively referred to as the “financial statements”). In our opinion, the
financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of January 31, 2020 and 2019, and the results of its operations and its
cash flows for each of the two years in the period ended January 31, 2020, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

Change in accounting principle
As discussed in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company has changed its method of accounting for leases as of February 1, 2019 due to the adoption
of the Accounting Standards Codification Topic 842, Leases.

Basis for opinion

These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s financial statements based
on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (“PCAOB”) and are required to be
independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange
Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. The Company is not required to have, nor were we engaged to
perform, an audit of its internal control over financial reporting. As part of our audits, we are required to obtain an understanding of internal control over financial reporting
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion.

Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing
procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.
Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the
financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

/s/ GRANT THORNTON LLP

We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2004.

Chicago, Illinois
April 21,2020

22



PERMA-PIPE INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

Year ended January 31,

(In thousands, except per share data) 2020 2019
Net sales $ 127,663  $ 128,965
Cost of sales 98,617 105,647
Gross profit 29,046 23318
Operating expenses:

General and administrative expense 17,875 15,357

Selling expense 5,231 5,239
Total operating expenses 23,106 20,596
Income from operations 5,940 2,722
Interest expense, net 905 1,122
Income from operations before income taxes 5,035 1,600
Income tax expense 1,459 2,150
Net income/(loss) $ 3,576 $ (550)
Weighted average common shares outstanding
Basic 7,989 7,812
Diluted 8,284 7,812
Income/(loss) per share
Basic $ 045 $ (0.07)
Diluted $ 043 $ (0.07)

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
Note: Earnings per share calculations could be impacted by rounding.
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PERMA-PIPE INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/(LOSS)

Year ended January 31,

(In thousands) 2020 2019
Net income/(loss) $ 3576 $ (550)
Other comprehensive loss

Currency translation adjustments, net of tax (441) (1,073)

Minimum pension liability adjustment, net of tax (439) (341)
Other comprehensive loss (880) (1,414)
Comprehensive income/(loss) $ 2,696 § (1,964)

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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PERMA-PIPE INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

January 31,
(In thousands, except per share data) 2020 2019
ASSETS
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents $ 13371 $ 10,156
Restricted cash 1,287 2,581
Trade accounts receivable, less allowance for doubtful accounts of $407 on January 31, 2020 and $536 on January 31, 2019 29,402 32,508
Inventories 14,498 12,289
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 3,531 3,773
Costs and estimated earnings in excess of billings on uncompleted contracts 2,166 1,653
Total current assets 64,255 62,960
Property, plant and equipment, net of accumulated depreciation 28,629 30,398
Other assets
Operating lease right-of-use asset 11475 —
Deferred tax assets 293 458
Goodwill 2,254 2,269
Other assets 5,319 6,120
Total other assets 19,341 8,847
Total assets $ 112,225 § 102,205
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
Current liabilities
Trade accounts payable $ 9577  $ 12,006
Commissions and management incentives payable 1,759 1,866
Accrued compensation and payroll taxes 1,190 1,544
Revolving line - North America 8,577 8,890
Current maturities of long-term debt 1,458 640
Customers' deposits 2,202 3,708
Outside commission liability 1,755 1,743
Operating lease liabilities short-term 1,040 —
Other accrued liabilities 3,444 3,856
Billings in excess of costs and estimated earnings on uncompleted contracts 1,173 1,569
Income tax payable 664 1,266
Total current liabilities 32,839 37,088
Long-term liabilities
Long-term debt, less current maturities 6,717 6,751
Deferred compensation liabilities 4,199 3,883
Deferred tax liabilities 1,052 1,435
Operating lease liabilities long-term 11214 —
Other long-term liabilities 575 1,347
Total long-term liabilities 23,757 13,416
Stockholders' equity
Common stock, $.01 par value, authorized 50,000 shares; 8,048 issued and outstanding January 31, 2020 and 7,854 issued
and outstanding January 31, 2019 80 79
Additional paid-in capital 60,024 58,793
Accumulated deficit (715) (4,291)
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (3,760) (2,880)
Total stockholders' equity 55,629 51,701
Total liabilities and stockholders' equity $ 112,225 8§ 102,205

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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PERMA-PIPE INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY

Accumulated Total

Common Additional Treasury Accumulated Other Comp. Stockholders'
(In thousands, except share data) Stock Paid-in Capital Stock Deficit Loss Equity
Total stockholders' equity on January 31,2018  $ 77 $ 56,304 § - S (3,103) $ (1,466) $ 51,812
Beginning retained earnings revision (638) (638)
Revised stockholders' equity on January 31,
2018 $ 77 % 56,304 $ -3 (3,741) $ (1,466) $ 51,174
Net loss (550) (550)
Common stock issued under stock plans, net of
shares used for tax withholding 2 1,324 1,326
Stock-based compensation expense 1,165 1,165
Pension liability adjustment (341) (341)
Foreign currency translation adjustment (1,170) (1,170)
Tax expense on above items 97 97
Total stockholders' equity on January 31,2019  § 9 3 58793 $ -3 4291) $ (2,830) $ 51,701
Net income 3,576 3,576
Common stock issued under stock plans, net of
shares used for tax withholding 1 220 221
Stock-based compensation expense 1,011 1,011
Pension liability adjustment (439) (439)
Foreign currency translation adjustment (441) (441)
Tax expense on above items - -
Total stockholders' equity on January 31,2020  $ 80 § 60,024 $ - 8 (715) $ 3,760) $ 55,629
Common stock shares 2019 2018
Balance beginning of year 7,854,322 7,716,542
Shares issued 193,684 137,780
Balance end of year 8,048,006 7,854,322

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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PERMA-PIPE INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Year ended January 31,
(In thousands) 2020 2019
Operating activities
Net income/(loss) $ 3,576 $ (550)
Adjustments to reconcile net income/(loss) to net cash flows provided by operating activities
Depreciation and amortization 4,437 4,575
Deferred tax (benefit)/expense (213) 215
Stock-based compensation expense 1,011 1,165
Provision on uncollectible accounts 101 71
Loss on disposal of fixed assets 318 46
Changes in operating assets and liabilities
Accounts payable (2,609) (3,576)
Accrued compensation and payroll taxes (576) 1,226
Inventories (2,225) 4,360
Customers' deposits (1,507) (1,517)
Income taxes receivable and payable (668) 35
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 1,749 (700)
Accounts receivable 1,749 (354)
Costs and estimated earnings in excess of billings on uncompleted contracts 910) (547)
Other assets and liabilities (143) 529
Net cash provided by operating activities 4,090 4,978
Investing activities
Capital expenditures (1,902) (1,361)
Net cash used in investing activities (1,902) (1,361)
Financing activities
Proceeds from revolving lines 73,225 64,736
Payments of debt on revolving lines (72,973) (62,759)
Debt issuance costs - (946)
Payments of other debt (358) (350)
Increase (decrease) in drafts payable (129) 192
Payments on finance lease obligations 287) (250)
Stock options exercised and taxes paid related to restricted shares vested 221 511
Net cash (used in)/provided by financing activities (301) 1,134
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash 34 (335)
Net increase in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash 1,921 4416
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash - beginning of period 12,737 8321
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash - end of period $ 14,658 8 12,737
Supplemental cash flow information
Interest paid $ 9202 $ 1,298
Income taxes paid 2,107 1,731
Fixed assets acquired under finance leases - non-cash 848 -

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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PERMA-PIPE INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
YEARS ENDED January 31, 2020 and 2019
(Tabular dollars in thousands, except per share data)
Note 1 - Business information

Perma-Pipe International Holdings, Inc. ("PPIH", the "Company", or the "Registrant") was incorporated in Delaware on October 12, 1993. The Company is engaged in the
manufacture and sale of products in one distinct segment: Piping Systems.

Fiscal year. The Company's fiscal year ends on January 31. Years, results and balances described as 2019 and 2018 are the fiscal years ended January 31, 2020 and 2019,
respectively.

Nature of business. The Company engineers, designs, manufactures and sells specialty piping systems, and leak detection systems. Specialty piping systems include: (i)
insulated and jacketed district heating and cooling ("DHC") piping systems for efficient energy distribution from central energy plants to multiple locations, (ii) primary and
secondary containment piping systems for transporting chemicals, hazardous fluids and petroleum products, and (iii) the coating and/or insulation of oil and gas gathering
and transmission pipelines. The Company's leak detection systems are sold with its piping systems or on a stand-alone basis, to monitor areas where fluid intrusion may
contaminate the environment, endanger personal safety, cause a fire hazard, impair essential services or damage equipment or property.

Geographic information. Net sales attributed to a geographic area are based on the destination of the product shipment. Sales to foreign customers were 55.4% in
2019 compared to 61.0% in 2018. Long-lived assets are based on the physical location of the assets and consist of property, plant and equipment used in the generation of
revenues in the geographic area.

(In thousands) 2019 2018

Net sales
United States $ 56,702 $ 50,319
Canada 22,203 34,789
Middle East 26,505 35,117
Europe 17,462 1,029
India 4,180 3,755
Other 611 3,956

Total net sales $ 127,663 § 128,965

Property, plant and equipment, net of accumulated depreciation

United States $ 9,063 $ 10,279
Canada 11,554 11,862
Middle East 7,815 8,103
India 197 154
Total $ 28,629 $ 30,398
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Note 2 - Significant accounting policies

Use of estimates. The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements, and the
reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Revenue recognition. During 2019 and 2018 and in accordance with Accounting Standards Update No. 2014-19, “Revenue from Contracts with Customers” (“ASC 6067),
the Company recognizes revenue when a customer obtains control of promised goods or services. See Note 5 - Revenue Recognition for more detail.

*Percentage of completion revenue recognition. Certain domestic divisions have contracts that recognize revenues using periodic recognition of income. For these

contracts, the Company uses the "percentage of completion" accounting method. Under this approach, income is recognized in each reporting period based on the
status of the uncompleted contracts and the current estimates of costs to complete. The choice of accounting method is made at the time the contract is received
based on the expected length and complexity of the project. The percentage of completion is determined by the relationship of costs incurred to the total estimated
costs of the contract. Provisions are made for estimated losses on uncompleted contracts in the period in which such losses are determined. Changes in job
performance, job conditions, and estimated profitability, including those arising from contract penalty provisions and final contract settlements, may result in
revisions to costs and income. Such revisions are recognized in the period in which they are determined. Claims for additional compensation due to the Company are
recognized in contract revenues when realization is probable and the amount can be reliably estimated.

Shipping and handling. Shipping and handling costs are included in cost of sales, and the amounts invoiced to customers relating to shipping and handling are included
in net sales.

Sales tax. Sales tax is reported on a net basis in the consolidated financial statements.

Operating cycle. The length of contracts vary, but are typically less than one year. The Company includes in current assets and liabilities amounts realizable and payable in
the normal course of contract completion unless completion of such contracts extends significantly beyond one year.

Consolidation. The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its domestic and foreign subsidiaries, all of which are wholly owned. All
intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated.

Translation of foreign currency. Assets and liabilities of consolidated foreign subsidiaries are translated into U.S. dollars at exchange rates in effect at year-end. Revenues
and expenses are translated at average weighted exchange rates prevailing during the year. Gains or losses on foreign currency transactions and the related tax effects are
reflected in net income. The resulting translation adjustments are included in stockholders' equity as part of accumulated other comprehensive income (loss). The
aggregated foreign exchange transaction gain recognized in the income statement was $0.4 million in 2019 as compared to a loss of $0.1 million recognized in 2018.

Contingencies. The Company is subject to various legal proceedings and claims that arise in the ordinary course of business, including those involving environmental, tax,
product liability and general liability claims. The Company accrues for such liabilities when it is probable that future costs will be incurred and such costs can be
reasonably estimated. Such accruals are based on developments to date, the Company's estimates of the outcomes of these matters, and its experience in contesting,
litigating and settling other similar matters. The Company does not currently anticipate the amount of any ultimate liability with respect to these matters will materially affect
the Company's financial position, liquidity or future operations.

Cash and cash equivalents. All highly liquid investments with a maturity of three months or less when purchased are considered to be cash equivalents. Cash and cash

equivalents were $13.4 million and $10.2 million as of January 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively. On January 31, 2020, $0.3 million was held in the U.S. and $13.1 million was
held by foreign subsidiaries. On January 31,2019, $0.1 million was held in the U.S. and $10.1 million was held by foreign subsidiaries.
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Accounts payable included drafts payable of $0.1 million and less than $0.2 million on January 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively.

Restricted cash. There was no restricted cash held in the U.S. on January 31, 2020. Restricted cash held in the U.S. on January 31, 2019 was $1.5 million, all of which was a
cash collateral held by PNC Bank in relation to the Company's credit agreement. Restricted cash held by foreign subsidiaries was $1.3 million and $1.1 million as of January
31,2020 and 2019, respectively. Restricted cash held by foreign subsidiaries related to fixed deposits that also serve as security deposits and guarantees.

(In thousands) 2019 2018

Cash and cash equivalents $ 13371 $ 10,156
Restricted cash 1,287 2,581
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash shown in the statement of cash flows $ 14,658 $ 12,737

Accounts receivable. The majority of the Company's accounts receivable are due from geographically dispersed contractors and manufacturing companies. Credit is
extended based on an evaluation of a customer's financial condition, including the availability of credit insurance. In the U.S., collateral is not generally required. In the
U.A.E. and Saudi Arabia, letters of credit are usually obtained for significant orders. Accounts receivable are due within various time periods specified in the terms
applicable to the specific customer and are stated at amounts due from customers net of an allowance for claims and doubtful accounts. Standard payment terms are net 30
days. The allowance for doubtful accounts is based on specifically identified amounts in customers' accounts, where future collectability is deemed uncertain. Management
may exercise its judgment in adjusting the provision as a consequence of known items, such as current economic factors and credit trends. Past due trade accounts
receivable balances are written off when the Company's collection efforts have been unsuccessful in collecting the amount due and the amount is deemed uncollectible.
The write off is recorded against the allowance for doubtful accounts.

One of the Company’s accounts receivable in the total amount of $4.7 million as of January 31, 2019 (inclusive of a retention receivable amount of $3.6 million, of
which $2.1 million and $3.5 million were included in the balance of other long-term assets in our consolidated balance sheets as of January 31, 2020 and January 31, 2019,
due to the long-term nature of the receivables) has been outstanding for several years. The Company completed all of its deliverables in 2015, and has been engaged in
ongoing active efforts to collect this outstanding amount. During 2019, the Company received payments of approximately $0.5 million, which reduced the balance of this
receivable to $4.1 million as of January 31, 2020. Subsequent to January 31, 2020, the Company has certified invoices of $0.5 million in the process of collection. As a result,
the Company did not reserve any allowance against this receivable as of January 31, 2020. The Company continues to engage with the customer to ensure full payment of
open balances, and has also received an updated acknowledgment of the outstanding balances and assurances of payment from the customer. However, if the Company’s
efforts to collect on this account are not successful in 2020, then the Company may recognize an allowance for all, or substantially all, of any such then uncollected
amounts.

For the year ended January 31, 2020, one customer accounted for 11.5% of the Company's consolidated net sales and for the year ended January 31, 2019, no one customer
accounted for more than 10% of the Company's consolidated net sales.

As of January 31, 2020 and 2019, one customer accounted for 13.3% and three customers accounted for 42.0% of accounts receivable, respectively.

Concentration of credit risk. The Company maintains its U.S. cash in bank deposit accounts at financial institutions that are insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance
Corporation ("FDIC"). Cash balances are below FDIC limits. The Company has not experienced any losses in such accounts.

The Company has a broad customer base doing business in all regions of the U.S. as well as other areas in the world.
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Accumulated other comprehensive loss. Accumulated other comprehensive loss represents the change in equity from non-owner transactions and consisted of foreign
currency translation, minimum pension liability and marketable securities.

(In thousands) 2019 2018

Equity adjustment foreign currency, gross $ (1879) $ (1,438)

Minimum pension liability, gross (2,087) (1,648)
Subtotal excluding tax effect (3,966) (3,086)

Tax effect of equity adjustment foreign currency 91 91

Tax effect of minimum pension liability 115 115
Total accumulated other comprehensive loss $ (3,760) $ (2,880)

Inventories. Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or net realizable value. Cost is determined using the first-in, first-out method for all inventories.

(In thousands) 2019 2018

Raw materials $ 13859 § 11,962

Work in process 592 488

Finished goods 798 731
Subtotal 15,249 13,181

Less allowance 751 892
Inventories $ 14498 § 12,289

Long-lived assets. Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost. Interest is capitalized in connection with the construction of facilities and amortized over the asset's
estimated useful life. Long-lived assets are reviewed for possible impairment whenever events indicate that the carrying amount of such assets may not be recoverable. If
such a review indicates impairment, the carrying amount of such assets is reduced to an estimated fair value.

Depreciation is computed using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the assets, which range from three to 30 years. Leasehold improvements are
depreciated over the remaining life of the lease or its useful life, whichever is shorter. Amortization of assets under capital leases is included in depreciation. Depreciation
expense was approximately $4.4 million in 2019 and $4.5 million in 2018.

(In thousands) 2019 2018

Land, buildings and improvements $ 22328 $ 22,327

Machinery and equipment 47,409 47,168

Furniture, office equipment and computer systems 4317 4335

Transportation equipment 3,762 3311
Subtotal 77,816 77,141

Less accumulated depreciation 49,187 46,743
Property, plant and equipment, net of accumulated depreciation $ 28629 § 30,398

Impairment of long-lived assets. The Company evaluates long-lived assets (including intangible assets) for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying amount of a long-lived asset may not be recoverable. A factor considered important that could trigger an impairment review includes a year-to-
date loss from operations. The Company reported income from operations in 2019 and 2018. An asset is considered impaired if its carrying amount exceeds the
undiscounted future net cash flow the asset is expected to generate. Based on the Company's review of the projected cash flows over the remaining useful lives of the
assets, management determined that there was no impairment of long-lived assets as of January 31, 2019. Since there was no triggering event in 2019,
management determined that there was no impairment of long-lived assets as of January 31, 2020.
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Goodwill. The purchase price of an acquired company is allocated between intangible assets and the net tangible assets of the acquired business with the residual of the
purchase price recorded as goodwill. All identifiable goodwill as of January 31, 2020 and 2019, is attributable to the purchase of Perma-Pipe Canada, Ltd. ("PPC").

Foreign exchange
(In thousands) January 31, 2019 change effect January 31, 2020
Goodwill $ 2269 $ as) $ 2,254

The Company performs an impairment assessment of goodwill annually as of January 31, or more frequently if triggering events occur, based on the estimated fair value of
the related reporting unit. Fair value is defined as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants. There was no impairment to goodwill during 2019 or 2018.

Other intangible assets with definite lives. The Company owns several patents including those covering features of its piping and electronic leak detection systems.
Patents are capitalized and amortized on a straight-line basis over a period not to exceed the legal lives of the patents. The Company expenses costs incurred to renew or
extend the term of intangible assets. Gross patents were $2.7 million and $2.6 million as of January 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively. Accumulated amortization was
approximately $2.5 million as of January 31, 2020 and 2019. Future amortization over the next five years ending January 31 will be less than $0.1 million in the years 2020 to
2024 and less than $0.1 million thereafter. Amortization expense is expected to be recognized over the weighted-average period of 4.3 years.

Research and development. Research and development expenses consist of materials, salaries and related expenses of engineering personnel and outside services for
product development projects. Research and development costs are expensed as incurred. Research and development expense was approximately $0.3 million and $0.2
million in 2019 and 2018, respectively.

Income taxes. Deferred income taxes have been provided for temporary differences arising from differences in the basis of assets and liabilities for tax and financial
reporting purposes. Deferred income taxes on temporary differences have been recorded at the current tax rate. The Company assesses its deferred tax assets and liabilities
for realizability at each reporting period.

The Company recognizes the financial statement benefit of a tax position only after determining that the relevant tax authority would more likely than not sustain the
position following an audit. For tax positions meeting the more likely than not threshold, the amount recognized in the financial statements is the largest benefit that has a
greater than 50% likelihood of being realized upon ultimate settlement with the relevant tax authority. For further information, see Note 8 - Income taxes in the Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Net income/(loss) per common share. Earnings per share ("EPS") is computed by dividing net income/(loss) by the weighted average number of common shares
outstanding (basic). The Company reported net income 2019 and a net loss in 2018. Therefore, the Company adjusted for dilutive shares in 2019, while in 2018 the diluted
loss per share was identical to the basic loss per share rather than assuming conversion, exercise, or contingent issuance of securities that would have an anti-dilutive
effect on earnings per share. The dilutive shares are in the following table:

Basic weighted average number of common shares outstanding (in thousands) 2019 2018

Basic weighted average number of common shares outstanding 7,989 7,812
Dilutive effect of stock options and restricted stock units 295 —
Weighted average number of common shares outstanding assuming full dilution 8,284 7,812

Restricted Stock and Stock options not included in the computation of diluted EPS of common stock because the option

exercise prices exceeded the average market prices 61 82
Canceled options during the year (33) (63)
Restricted Stock and Stock options with an exercise price below the average stock price 295 136

Equity-based compensation. The Company issues various types of stock-based awards to employees and directors: restricted stock, deferred stock and stock options.
Non-cash compensation expense associated with restricted stock is based on the fair value of the common stock at the date of grant, and amortized using the straight line
method over the vesting period. Compensation expense associated with deferred stock which is awarded to the Board of Directors (non-employee) is based upon the fair
value of the common stock at the date of grant, and since the grant vests immediately it is expensed on the date of the grant. Stock compensation expense for stock options
is recognized ratably over the requisite service period of the award. The Black-Scholes option-pricing model is utilized to estimate the fair value of option awards.

Segments. Operating segments are identified as components of an enterprise about which separate discrete financial information is available for evaluation by the chief
operating decision maker ("CODM") in making decisions regarding resource allocation and assessing performance The Company’s Chief Executive Officer is the CODM,
and he uses a combination of several management reports, including the Company's financial information in determining how to allocate resources and assess performance.
The Company has determined that it operates in one segment.

Fair value of financial instruments. The carrying values of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable and accounts payable are reasonable estimates of their fair
value due to their short-term nature. The carrying amount of the Company's short-term debt, revolving line of credit and long-term debt approximate fair value because the
majority of the amounts outstanding accrue interest at variable market rates.

Recent accounting pronouncements. In February 2016, the FASB issued Accounting Standard Update ("ASU") 2016-02, Leases (Topic 842). This ASU requires entities to
recognize assets and liabilities for most leases on their balance sheets. It also requires additional qualitative and quantitative disclosures to help investors and other
financial statement users better understand the amount, timing and uncertainty of cash flows arising from leases. ASU No. 2016-02 is effective for fiscal years, and interim
periods within those fiscal years, beginning after December 15, 2018, with early adoption permitted. The adoption of this ASU using the alternative transition approach
resulted in the recognition of operating lease right-of-use ("ROU") assets, net of deferred rent of $10.7 million and lease liability for operating leases of $11.0 million as
of February 1, 2019. The Company accounts for existing finance lease assets and liabilities in the same way under the new standard. Adoption of this ASU did not have an
effect on retained earnings. The Company availed itself of the practical expedients provided under this ASU and its subsequent amendments regarding identification of
leases, lease classification, indirect costs and the combination of lease and non-lease components. The Company continues to account for leases in the prior period
financials statements under ASC Topic 840.

In June 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-13, Financial Instruments-Credit Losses (Topic 326): Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial Instruments. The new
guidance affects loans, debt securities, trade receivables, net investments in leases, off-balance-sheet credit exposures, reinsurance receivables, and any other financial
assets not excluded from the scope that have the contractual right to receive cash. This ASU is effective for fiscal years, and interim periods within those fiscal years,
beginning after December 15, 2019, with early adoption permitted. A recently adopted amendment has delayed the effective date until fiscal years beginning after December
15, 2022. The Company is currently evaluating this standard and the impact to the financial statements of the Company.

In February 2018, the FASB issued ASU 2018-02, Reclassification of Certain Tax Effects from Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income, which permits entities to
reclassify the disproportionate income tax effects of the Tax Act on items within accumulated other comprehensive income/(loss) to reinvested earnings. These
disproportionate income tax effect items are referred to as "stranded tax effects." The amendments in this update only relate to the reclassification of the income tax effects
of the Tax Reform Act. Other accounting guidance that requires the effect of changes in tax laws or rates to be included in net income from continuing operations is not
affected by this update. The Company adopted ASU 2018-02 effective February 1, 2019 and has elected to not reclassify any amounts to retained earnings. Under the
Company's existing policy, any existing stranded tax effects will be eliminated when the underlying circumstances upon which it was premised cease to exist.

The Company evaluated other recent accounting pronouncements and does not expect them to have a material impact on its consolidated financial statements.
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Note 3 - Correction of immaterial errors

In the fourth quarter of 2019, management discovered prior period errors that accumulated over several years relating to accounting for leases with escalation clauses. The
cumulative adjustment for the errors covering the period from February 1, 2018 to January 31, 2020 was approximately $0.6 million. The adjustment applicable to
the beginning retained earnings as February 1, 2018 was approximately $0.6 million and the adjustment to the consolidated statement of operations for the year ended
January 31, 2019 was less than $0.1 million.

Pursuant to the guidance of Staff Accounting Bulletin ("SAB") No. 99, Materiality, the Company concluded that the errors were not material to any of its prior period
financial statements. Although the errors were immaterial to prior periods, the prior period financial statements were revised, in accordance with SAB No. 108, Considering

the Effects of Prior Year Misstatements when Quantifying Misstatements in Current Year Financial Statements, due to the significance of the out-of-period correction.

A reconciliation of the effects of the adjustments to the previously reported balance sheet at January 31, 2019 follows:

(In thousands) As Reported Adjustment Revised

Other long-term liabilities $ 688 $ 659 $ 1,347

Total long-term liabilities 12,757 659 13,416

Accumulated deficit (3,632) (659) (4,291)
Total stockholders' equity 52,360 (659) 51,701

A reconciliation of the effects of the adjustments to the previously reported statement of operations for the year ended January 31, 2019 follows:

(In thousands) As Reported Adjustment Revised

Cost of Sales $ 105,626  $ 21§ 105,647

Gross profit 23,339 1) 23318

Income from operations 2,743 21) 2,722

Income from operations before income taxes 1,621 21) 1,600

Net loss (529) 21 (550)

A reconciliation of the effects of the adjustments to the previously reported statement of comprehensive loss for the year ended January 31, 2019 follows:

(In thousands) As Reported Adjustment Revised
Net loss $ (529) $ 21 $ (550)
Comprehensive loss (1,943) 21) (1,964)

A reconciliation of the effects of the adjustments to the previously reported statement of cash flows for the year ended January 31, 2019 follows:

(In thousands) As Reported Adjustment Revised
Net loss $ (529) $ 21 $ (550)
Other assets and liabilities 508 21 529

A reconciliation of the effects of the adjustments to the previously reported statement of stockholders' equity for the year ended January 31, 2019 follows:

(In thousands) As Reported Adjustment Revised

Net loss $ (529) $ 2 $ (550)
Accumulated deficit (3,632) (659) (4,291)
Stockholders' equity 52,360 (659) 51,701

A reconciliation of the effects of the adjustments to the previously reported statement of stockholders' equity for the year ended January 31, 2018 follows:

(In thousands) As Reported Adjustment Revised
Accumulated deficit $ (3,103) $ (638) $ (3,741)
Stockholders' equity 51,812 (638) $ 51,174

Note 4 - Retention

A retention receivable is a portion of an outstanding receivable balance amount withheld by a customer until a contract is fully completed as specified in the contractual
agreement. Retention receivables of $4.0 million and $1.7 million were included in the balance of trade accounts receivable as of January 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively. A
retention receivable of $2.3 million and $4.3 million was included in the balance of other long-term assets as of January 31, 2020 and 2019 due to the long-term nature of the
receivables. See Note 2 - Accounts receivable for further information regarding the future realization of these long-term balances.

Note 5 - Revenue recognition
On February 1, 2018, the Company adopted Accounting Standards Codification Topic 606, "Revenue from Contracts with Customers," ("Topic 606"), using the modified
retrospective method applied to contracts that were not completed as of that date. Under this methodology the effect, if any, of initially applying the new revenue standard

was to be recorded as an adjustment to the opening balance of retained earnings, while periods prior to the adoption date were not to be adjusted and continue to be
reported in accordance with the accounting policies in effect for those periods.
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The Company conducted a complete and thorough analysis of each single element of the five-step model of Topic 606 and concluded that there was no material impact to
the Company as a result of the adoption of the new standard. As such, the Company was not required

to make a cumulative adjustment to the opening balances of retained earnings, contract assets or contract liabilities upon its initial application of the new revenue
standard.

Revenue from contracts with customers:

The Company defines a contract as an agreement that has approval and commitment from both parties, defined rights and identifiable payment terms, which ensures the
contract has commercial substance and that collectability is reasonably assured.

The Company’s standard revenue transactions are classified in to two main categories:
1)  Systems - which include all bundled products in which Perma-Pipe designs, engineers, and manufactures pre-insulated specialty piping systems, insulates
subsea flowline pipe, subsea oil production equipment, and land-lines. Additionally, this systems classification also includes coating applied to pipes and

structures.

2)  Products - which include cables, leak detection products, heat trace products sold under the PermAlert brand name, material/goods not bundled with piping or
flowline systems, and field services not bundled into a project contract.

In accordance with ASC 606-10-25-27 through 29, the Company recognizes specialty piping and coating systems revenue over time as the manufacturing process
progresses because one of the following conditions exist:

1)  the customer owns the material that is being insulated or coated, so the customer controls the asset and thus the work-in-process; or

2)  the customer controls the work-in-process due to the custom nature of the pre-insulated, fabricated system being manufactured as evidenced by the Company’s
right to payment for work performed to date plus seller’s profit margin for products that have no alternative use for the Company.

Products revenue is recognized when goods are shipped or services are performed (ASC 606-10-25-30).

A breakdown of the Company's revenues by revenue class for 2019 and 2018 are as follows:

2019 2018
Sales % to Total Sales % to Total
Products $ 15,991 12% $ 13,576 11%
Specialty Piping Systems and Coating
Revenue recognized under input method 48415 38% 40,525 31%
Revenue recognized under output method 63,257 50% 74,864 58%
Total $ 127,663 100% $ 128,965 100%

The input method as noted in ASC 606-10-55-20 is used by the U.S. operating entities to measure revenue by the costs incurred to date relative to the estimated costs to
satisfy the contract using the percentage-of-completion method. Generally, these contracts are considered a single performance obligation satisfied over time and due to
the custom nature of the goods and services, the percentage-of-completion method is the most faithful depiction of the Company’s performance as it measures the value of
the goods and services transferred to the customer. Costs include all material, labor, and direct costs incurred to satisfy the performance obligations of the contract.
Revenue recognition begins when projects costs are incurred.

The output method as noted in ASC 606-10-55-17 is used by all other operating entities to measure revenue by the direct measurement of the outputs produced relative to
the remaining goods promised under the contract. Due to the types of end customers, generally these contracts require formal inspection protocols or specific export
documentation for units produced, or produced and shipped, therefore, the output method is the most faithful depiction of the Company’s performance. Depending on the
conditions of the contract, revenue may be recognized based on units produced, inspected and held by the Company prior to shipment or on units produced, inspected
and shipped.

Some of the Company’s operating entities invoice and collect milestones or other contractual obligations prior to the transfer of goods and services, but does not recognize
revenue until the performance obligations are satisfied under the methods discussed above.

Contract modifications that occur prior to the start of the manufacturing process will supersede the original contract and revenue is recognized using the modified contract
value. Contract modifications that occur during the manufacturing process (changes in scope of work, job performance, material costs, and/or final contract settlements) are
recognized in the period in which the revisions are known. Provisions for losses on uncompleted contracts are made in contract liabilities account in the period such losses
are identified.

Contract assets and liabilities:
Contract assets represent revenue recognized in excess of amounts billed (unbilled receivables) for contract work in progress for which the Company has a valid contract
and an enforceable right to payment for work completed. Contract liabilities represent billings in excess of costs (unearned revenue) for contract work in progress for which

the Company has a valid contract and an enforceable right to payment for work completed. Both customer billings and the satisfaction (or partial satisfaction) of the
performance obligation(s) occur throughout the manufacturing process and impacts the period end balances in these accounts.
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The Company anticipates that substantially all costs incurred for uncompleted contracts as of January 31, 2020 will be billed and collected within one year.

The following tables set forth the changes in the Company's contract assets and liabilities for the periods indicated. The Company expects to recognize the remaining
balances as of January 31, 2020 within one year.

Contract Assets

Balance January 31, 2018 $ 1,502
Costs and gross profit recognized during the period for uncompleted contracts from the prior period (6,458)
Costs and deferred gross profit incurred on uncompleted contracts not billed at the end of the current period 6,609
Balance January 31, 2019 $ 1,653
Costs and gross profit recognized during the period for uncompleted contracts from the prior period (6,697)
Costs and deferred gross profit incurred on uncompleted contracts not billed at the end of the current period 7,210
Closing Balance at January 31, 2020 $ 2,166

Contract Liabilities

Balance January 31, 2018 $ 1,967
Revenue recognized during the period for uncompleted contracts from the prior period (3,222)
New contracts entered into that are uncompleted at the end of the current period 2,824
Balance January 31, 2019 $ 1,569
Revenue recognized during the period for uncompleted contracts from the prior period (3,276)
New contracts entered into that are uncompleted at the end of the current period 2,380
Closing Balance at January 31, 2020 $ 1,173

The following table shows the reconciliation of the cost in excess of billings:

(In thousands) 2019 2018

Costs incurred on uncompleted contracts $ 15553 § 12,348
Estimated earnings 8,641 7,430
Earned revenue 24,194 19,778
Less billings to date 23,201 19,694
Costs in excess of billings, net $ 93§ 34
Balance sheet classification

Contract assets: Costs and estimated earnings in excess of billings on uncompleted contracts $ 2,166 $ 1,653
Contract liabilities: Billings in excess of costs and estimated earnings on uncompleted contracts (1,173) (1,569)
Costs in excess of billings, net $ 93 8 34

Practical expedients:

Costs to obtain a contract are not considered project costs as they are not usually incremental, nor does job duration span more than one year. The Company applies
practical expedient for these types of costs and as such are expensed in the period incurred.

As the Company's contracts are less than one year, the Company has applied the practical expedient regarding disclosure of the aggregate amount and future timing of
performance obligations that are unsatisfied or partially satisfied as of the end of the reporting period.
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Note 6 - Debt

(In thousands) 2019 2018
Revolving line - North America $ 8,577 $ 8,390
Mortgage notes 6,568 6,961
Revolving lines - foreign 691 84
Finance lease obligations 1,094 536
Total debt 16,930 16,471
Unamortized debt issuance costs (169) (181)
Less current maturities 10,044 9,539
Total long-term debt $ 6,717 $ 6,751
Current portion of long-term debt $ 10,044 § 9,539
Unamortized debt issuance costs ©) ©)
Total short-term debt $ 10,035 § 9,530

The following table summarizes the Company's scheduled maturities on January 31:

(In thousands) Total 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 Thereafter
Revolving line - North America $ 8577 $ 8577 $ — 3 — 3 — 3 — 3 =
Mortgages 6,568 360 364 370 376 383 4,715
Revolving lines - foreign 691 691 — — — — —
Finance lease obligations 1,094 416 290 247 141 — —

Total $ 16930 $ 10,044 § 654 % 617 $ 517  § 383 % 4,715

Revolving line - North America. On September 20, 2018, the Company and certain of its U.S. and Canadian subsidiaries (collectively, together with the Company, the
“North American Loan Parties”) entered into a new Revolving Credit and Security Agreement (the “Credit Agreement”) with PNC Bank, National Association, as
administrative agent and lender (“PNC”), providing for a new three-year $18 million Senior Secured Revolving Credit Facility, subject to a borrowing base including various
reserves (the “Senior Credit Facility”). The Senior Credit Facility replaced the Company’s then existing $15 million Credit and Security Agreement, dated September 24, 2014,
among various subsidiaries of the Company and Bank of Montreal, as successor by assignment to BMO Harris Bank N.A., as amended (the “Prior Credit Agreement”).

The Company initially used borrowings under the new Senior Credit Facility to pay off outstanding amounts under the Prior Credit Agreement (which totaled
approximately USD $3,773,823 plus CAD 4,794,528) and cash collateralize a letter of credit (USD $154,500). The Company has used proceeds from the new Senior
Credit Facility for on-going working capital needs, and expects to continue using this facility to fund future capital expenditures, working capital needs and other corporate
purposes. Borrowings under the Senior Credit Facility bear interest at a rate equal to an alternate base rate or LIBOR, plus, in each case, an applicable margin. The
applicable margin is based on average quarterly undrawn availability with respect to the Senior Credit Facility. Interest on alternate base rate borrowings are generally
payable monthly in arrears and interest on LIBOR borrowings are generally be payable in arrears on the last day of each interest period. Additionally, the Company is
required to pay a 0.375% per annum facility fee on the unused portion of the Senior Credit Facility. The facility fee is payable quarterly in arrears.

Subject to certain exceptions, borrowings under the Senior Credit Facility are secured by substantially all of the assets of the Company and certain of its North
American subsidiaries. The North American Loan Parties’ obligations under the Senior Credit Facility are guaranteed by Perma-Pipe Canada, Inc. The Senior Credit Facility
will mature on September 20, 2021. Subject to certain qualifications and exceptions, the Senior Credit Facility contains covenants that, among other things, restrict the North
American Loan Parties’ ability to create liens, merge or consolidate, consummate acquisitions, make investments, dispose of assets, incur debt, and pay dividends and
other distributions. In addition, the North American Loan Parties cannot allow capital expenditures to exceed $3 million annually (plus a limited carryover of unused
amounts).

The Senior Credit Facility also contains financial covenants requiring (i) the North America Loan Parties to achieve EBITDA of at least $2,462,000 for the period from
August 1, 2018 through January 31, 2019; (ii) the North America Loan Parties to achieve a ratio of its EBITDA (with certain additional adjustments) to the sum of scheduled
cash principal payments on indebtedness for borrowed money and interest payments on the advances under the Senior Credit Facility (excluding from the calculation items
related to the financial performance of the Company’s foreign subsidiaries not party to the Credit Agreement) to be not less than 1.10 to 1.00 for the nine-month period
ending April 30, 2019 and for the quarter ending July 31, 2019 and each quarter end thereafter on a trailing four-quarter basis; and (iii) the Company and its subsidiaries
(including the Company’s foreign subsidiaries not party to the Credit Agreement) to achieve a ratio of its EBITDA (with certain additional adjustments) to the sum of
scheduled cash principal payments on indebtedness for borrowed money and interest payments on the advances under the Senior Credit Facility of not less than 1.10 to
1.00 for the nine-month period ending October 31, 2018 and for the quarter ending January 31, 2019 and each quarter end thereafter on a trailing four-quarter basis. The
Company was in compliance with these covenants as of January 31, 2020.

As of January 31, 2020, the Company had borrowed an aggregate of $8.6 million at a weighted average interest rate of 6.04%, and had $3.4 million available under the Senior
Credit Facility.
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Revolving lines - foreign. The Company also has credit arrangements used by its Middle Eastern subsidiaries in the U.A.E. These credit arrangements are in the form of
overdraft facilities and project financing at rates competitive in the countries in which the Company operates. The lines are secured by certain equipment, certain assets
(such as accounts receivable and inventory), and a guarantee by the Company. Some credit arrangement covenants require a minimum tangible net worth to be maintained,
including maintaining certain levels of intercompany subordinated debt. In addition, some of the revolving credit facilities restrict payment of dividends or undertaking of
additional debt. In November 2019, the Company's Egyptian subsidiary entered into credit arrangement with a bank in Egypt for a revolving line of 200.0 million Egyptian
Pounds (approximately USD $12.6 million at January 31, 2020). This credit arrangement is in the form of project financing at rates competitive in Egypt. The line is secured
by certain assets (such as accounts receivable). Among other covenants, the credit arrangement establishes a maximum leverage ratio allowable and restricts the ability to
undertake any additional debt. On January 31, 2020, the Company was in compliance with the covenants under these credit arrangements. On January 31, 2020, interest
rates were based on the EIBOR plus 3.5% per annum, with a minimum interest rate of 4.5% per annum for the U.A.E. credit arrangements and based on the CBE corridor rate
plus 1.5% per annum for the Egypt credit arrangement. On January 31, 2020, the Company's interest rates ranged from 5.4% to 16.3%, with a weighted average rate of 5.9%,
and the Company could borrow $21.6 million under these credit arrangements. On January 31, 2020, $4.2 million of availability was used to support letters of credit to
guarantee amounts committed for inventory purchases and for performance guarantees. On January 31, 2020, the Company had borrowed $0.7 million, and had an
additional $16.8 million available. The foreign revolving lines balances as of January 31, 2020 and 2019, were included as current maturities of long-term debt in the
Company's consolidated balance sheets.

The Company had a revolving line for 8.0 million Dirhams (approximately USD $2.2 million at January 31, 2020) from a bank in the U.A.E. The loan had an interest rate of
approximately 5.4% and expired on March 31, 2019. The loan was renewed until November 2020 under the same terms.

The Company has a revolving line for 25.0 million Dirhams (approximately USD $6.8 million at January 31, 2020) from a bank in the U.A.E. The loan had an interest rate of
approximately 5.9% and expired in July 2019. The loan was renewed until July 2020 under the same terms.

The Company’s credit arrangements used by its Middle Eastern subsidiaries renew on an annual basis.

The Company has a revolving line for 200.0 million Egyptian Pounds (approximately USD $12.6 million at January 31, 2020) from a bank in Egypt. The loan has an interest
rate of approximately 16.3% and expires in June 2020.

The Company guarantees the subsidiaries' debt including all foreign debt.

Mortgages. On July 28, 2016, the Company borrowed CAD 8.0 million (approximately USD $6.1 million at the prevailing exchange rate on the transaction date) from a bank
in Canada under a mortgage note secured by the manufacturing facility located in Alberta, Canada that matures on December 23, 2042. The interest rate is variable,
currently at 6.05%, with monthly payments of CAD 37 thousand (approximately USD $28 thousand) for interest; and monthly payments of CAD 27
thousand (approximately USD $21 thousand) for principal. Principal payments began January 2018.

On June 19, 2012, the Company borrowed $1.8 million under a mortgage note secured by its manufacturing facility in Lebanon, Tennessee. The proceeds were used for
payment of amounts borrowed. The loan bears interest at 4.5% with monthly payments of $13 thousand for both principal and interest and matures July 1, 2027. On June 19,
2022, and on the same day of each year thereafter, the interest rate shall adjust to the prime rate, provided that the applicable interest rate shall not adjust more than 2.0%
per annum and shall be subject to a ceiling of 18.0% and a floor of 4.5%.
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Note 7 - Leases

Effective February 1, 2019, the Company accounts for its leases under ASC 842, Leases. Under this guidance, arrangements meeting the definition of a lease are classified
as operating or financing leases, and are recorded on the consolidated balance sheet. Operating leases are included in operating lease right-of-use (“ROU”) assets,
operating lease liabilities short-term, and operating lease liabilities long-term in the Company's consolidated balance sheets. Finance leases are included in property, plant
and equipment, current maturities of long-term debt, and long-term debt less current maturities in the Company's consolidated balance sheets.

ROU assets represent the Company's right to use an underlying asset for the lease term and lease liabilities represent the Company's obligation to make lease payments
arising from the lease calculated by discounting fixed lease payments over the lease term at the rate implicit in the lease or the Company’s incremental borrowing rate.
Lease liabilities are increased by interest and reduced by payments each period, and the ROU asset is amortized over the lease term. For operating leases, interest on the
lease liability and the amortization of the ROU asset result in straight-line rent expense over the lease term. For finance leases, interest on the lease liability and the
amortization of the ROU asset results in front-loaded expense over the lease term. Variable lease expenses are recorded when incurred. ROU assets and liabilities are
recognized at the commencement date of the lease based on the present value of lease payments over the lease term.

As most of the Company's leases do not provide an implicit rate, the Company uses its incremental borrowing rate based on the information available at the commencement
date in determining the present value of lease payments. The incremental borrowing rate is the rate of interest that the Company would have to pay to borrow on a
collateralized basis over a similar term and amount equal to the lease payments in a similar economic environment.

In calculating the ROU asset and lease liability, the Company elects to combine lease and non-lease components. The Company excludes short-term leases having initial
terms of 12 months or less from the new guidance as an accounting policy election, and recognizes rent expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

The Company continues to account for leases in the prior period financial statements under ASC Topic 840.

Finance Leases. In 2017, the Company obtained three finance leases for CAD 1.1 million (approximately USD $0.8 million at the prevailing exchange rates on the transaction
dates) to finance vehicle equipment. The interest rates for these finance leases range from 4.0% to 7.8% per annum with monthly principal and interest payments of less
than $0.1 million. These leases mature between April 2021 to September 2022.

In 2019, the Company obtained two finance leases for CAD 1.1 million (approximately USD $0.8 million at the prevailing exchange rates on the transaction dates) to finance
vehicle equipment. The interest rates for these finance leases were 8.0% per annum with monthly principal and interest payments of less than $0.1 million. These leases
mature in August 2023.

In August 2016, the Company obtained a finance lease for 0.6 million Indian Rupees (approximately USD $8 thousand at the prevailing exchange rate on the transaction
date) to finance vehicle equipment. The interest rate for this finance lease was 15.6% per annum with monthly principal and interest payments of less than USD
$1 thousand. This lease expired in July 2019.

The Company has several significant operating lease agreements, with lease terms of one to 14 years, which consist of real estate, vehicles and office equipment leases.
These leases do not require any contingent rental payments, impose any financial restrictions or contain any residual value guarantees. Certain of the Company’s leases
include renewal options and escalation clauses; renewal options have not been included in the calculation of the lease liabilities and ROU assets as the Company is not
reasonably certain to exercise the options. Variable expenses generally represent the Company’s share of the landlord’s operating expenses. The Company does not have
any arrangements where it acts as a lessor, other than one sub-lease arrangement.

At January 31, 2020, the Company had operating lease liabilities of $12.3 million and operating ROU assets of $11.5 million, which are reflected in the consolidated balance
sheet. At January 31, 2020, the Company also had finance lease liabilities of $1.1 million included in current maturities of long-term debt and long-term debt less current

maturities, and finance ROU assets of $1.2 million which were included in property plant and equipment, net of accumulated depreciation in the consolidated balance sheet.

Supplemental balance sheet information related to leases follows:

Operating and Finance leases: January 31, 2020
Finance leases assets:

Property and Equipment - gross $ 1,696
Accumulated depreciation and amortization (551)
Property and Equipment - net $ 1,145

Finance lease liabilities:

Finance lease liability short-term $ 417
Finance lease liability long-term 677
Total finance lease liabilities $ 1,094

Operating lease assets:

Operating lease ROU assets $ 11475

Operating lease liabilities:

Operating lease liability short-term $ 1,040
Operating lease liability long-term 11214
Total operating lease liabilities $ 12,254
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Total lease costs consist of the following:

Lease costs Consolidated Statements of Operations Classification
Finance Lease Costs

Amortization of ROU assets Cost of sales

Interest on lease liabilities Interest expense

Operating lease costs Cost of sales, SG&A expenses

Short-term lease costs (1) Cost of sales, SG&A expenses

Sub-lease income SG&A expenses

Total Lease costs
(1) Includes variable lease costs, which are immaterial

Supplemental cash flow information related to leases is as follows:

Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of lease liabilities:
Financing cash flows from finance leases

Operating cash flows from finance leases

Operating cash flows from operating leases

ROU Assets obtained in exchange for new lease obligations:
Finance leases liabilities
Operating leases liabilities

Weighted-average lease terms discount rates are as follows:

Weighted-average remaining lease terms (in years):
Finance leases
Operating leases

Weighted-average discount rates:

Finance leases
Operating leases
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Year Ended January
31, 2020

$ 208

58

2,326
45
(81)

$ 2,936

Year Ended January
31, 2020

$ 287

58
2,287

Three Months Ended
January 31, 2020

$ -

94

January 31, 2020

3.0
85

7.0%
82%



On January 31, 2020, future minimum annual rental commitments under non-cancelable lease obligations were as follows:

Year: Operating Leases Finance Leases
For the year ended January 31, 2021 $ 2312 $ 487
For the year ended January 31, 2022 2,315 331
For the year ended January 31, 2023 2,180 269
For the year ended January 31, 2024 2,012 145
For the year ended January 31, 2025 1,319 -
Thereafter 7,358 -
Total lease payments 17,496 1,232
Less: amount representing interest (5,242) (138)
Total lease liabilities at January 31, 2020 $ 12254 $ 1,094

On January 31, 2019, under previous lease accounting guidance, future minimum annual rental commitments under non-cancelable lease obligations were as follows:

Year: Operating Leases Capital Leases

For the year ended January 31, 2020 $ 2516 $ 241
For the year ended January 31, 2021 2,193 240
For the year ended January 31, 2022 2,149 82
For the year ended January 31, 2023 2,110 21
For the year ended January 31, 2024 1,979 -
Thereafter 8,997 -
Subtotal 19,944 584
Less Amount representing interest - (48)
Future minimum lease payments $ 19944 § 536

Rental expense for operating leases was $2.8 million and $2.6 million in 2019 and 2018, respectively.
The Company has several significant operating lease agreements as follows:

*  Office space of approximately 31,650 square feet in Niles, IL is leased until October 2023.

e Five acres of land in Louisiana is leased through March 2022.

e Twenty acres of land in Canada leased through December 2022.

¢ Nine acres of land in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia is leased through April 2030.

*  Production facilities in the U.A.E. of approximately 80,200 square feet on approximately 107,600 square feet of land is leased until June 2030.

*  Office space of approximately 21,500 square feet and open land for production facilities of approximately 423,000 square feet in the U.A.E. is leased until July
2032.

e Production facilities in the U.A.E. of approximately 78,100 square feet is leased until December 2032.
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Note 8 - Income taxes

Income from continuing operations before income taxes (in thousands) 2019 2018
Domestic $ 400 $ (2,331)
Foreign 4,635 3,931
Total $ 5,035 $ 1,600
Components of income tax expense (in thousands) 2019 2018
Current
Federal $ 34 3 43
Foreign 1,455 1,695
State and other 181 196
Total current income tax expense 1,670 1,939
Deferred
Federal — —
Foreign 211) 211
State and other — —
Total deferred income tax expense/(benefit) (211) 211
Total income tax expense $ 1,459 ' § 2,150

Repatriation of foreign earnings

As a result of the provisions from the U.S. Tax Cuts and Jobs Act of 2017 (“Tax Act”), the Company expects that future distributions from foreign subsidiaries will no
longer be subject to incremental U.S. federal tax as they will either be remittances of previously taxed earnings and profits or eligible for a full dividends received deduction.
Current and future earnings in the Company's subsidiaries in Canada and Egypt, are not permanently reinvested, and earnings in its Indian subsidiary are partially
permanently reinvested. The earnings from these subsidiaries will be subject to tax in their local jurisdiction, and the impact of the India dividend distribution tax, Canadian
withholding taxes and Egyptian withholding taxes will be considered. As such, the Company has accrued a liability of $0.2 million in 2019 related to these taxes.

U.S. income and foreign withholding taxes have not been recognized on the excess of the amount for financial reporting over the tax basis of investments in foreign
subsidiaries that is indefinitely reinvested outside the United States. The Company intends to permanently reinvest the undistributed earnings of its Middle Eastern
subsidiaries. The Middle Eastern subsidiaries have unremitted earnings of $26.8 million as of January 31, 2020, $25 million of which has been subject to the transition tax in
the U.S. Unremitted earnings of $16.1 million in the United Arab Emirates would not be subject to withholding tax in the event of a distribution, $10.7 million of unremitted
earnings in Saudi Arabia would be subject to withholding tax of $2.1 million, and the $4.6 million of earnings permanently reinvested in India would be subject to dividend
distribution tax of $0.9 million. The Company has not recorded a deferred tax liability related to any financial reporting basis over tax basis related to the investment in these
foreign subsidiaries as it is not practical to estimate.
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The difference between the provision for income taxes and the amount computed by applying the U.S. Federal statutory rate of 21% was as follows:

(In thousands) 2019 2018
Tax expense at federal statutory rate $ 1,057 $ 340
State expense, net of federal income tax effect 147 145
Deferred balance adjustment 212) —
Domestic valuation allowance (337) (2,612)
Domestic return to provision (172) 2,617
Global Intangible Low Tax Income Inclusion 703 438
Permanent differences other ®) 126
Valuation allowance for state NOLs ) 76
Differences in foreign tax rate (79) 334
Foreign rate change (63) —
Deferred tax on unremitted earnings 183 413
Foreign withholding taxes 274 252
All other, net expense 35) 21
Total income tax expense $ 1459 8 2,150

The Company's worldwide effective tax rates ("ETR") were 29.0% and 134.4% in 2019 and 2018, respectively. The change in the ETR from the prior year to the current year
was largely due to the overall increase in worldwide pre-tax book income in low tax and non-taxable jurisdictions. Additional factors included the Company's valuation
allowance against its domestic deferred tax asset and the Company's change in the amounts of income in various jurisdictions between the years. The unusually large ETR
incurred in 2018 was primarily due to the overall low pre-tax book income. Due to this, even relatively small changes to ordinary income have a large impact to the ETR. The
$2.6 million benefit related to the 2018 domestic return to provision was a result of finalizing the accounting for the tax effect of the Tax Act related to the one-time
repatriation of foreign earnings, which was offset by a valuation allowance.

Components of deferred income tax assets (in thousands) 2019 2018
U.S. Federal NOL carryforward $ 7209 $ 7,480
Deferred compensation 401 382
Research tax credit 2,686 2,703
Foreign NOL carryforward 223 390
Foreign tax credit 2,580 2,305
Stock compensation 429 459
Other accruals not yet deducted 328 349
State NOL carryforward 2,567 2,552
Accrued commissions and incentives 354 643
Inventory valuation allowance 75 112
Other 132 159
Deferred tax assets, gross 16,984 17,534
Valuation allowance (15,937) (16,199)
Total deferred tax assets, net of valuation allowances $ 1,047 § 1,335

Components of the deferred income tax liability

Depreciation $ (1275) $ (1,734)
Foreign subsidiaries unremitted earnings (470) (498)
Prepaid (61) (80)
Total deferred tax liabilities $ (1,806) $ (2312)
Deferred tax liability, net $ (759) § 977)
Balance sheet classification
Long-term assets $ 293 $ 458
Long-term liability (1,052) (1,435)
Total deferred tax liabilities, net of valuation allowances $ (759) $ 977
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The Company has a gross U.S. Federal operating loss carryforward of $33.8 million that will begin to expire in the year ending January 31, 2031.
The deferred tax asset ("DTA") for state net operating loss ("NOL") carryforwards of $2.6 million relates to amounts that expire at various times from 2022 to 2031.

The Company has a DTA foreign NOL carryforward of $0.2 million for its subsidiary in Saudi Arabia that can be carried forward indefinitely and does not have a valuation
allowance recorded against it. The ultimate realization of this tax benefit is dependent upon the generation of sufficient operating income in the foreign tax jurisdictions.

The Company periodically reviews the adequacy of its valuation allowance in all of the tax jurisdictions in which it operates, evaluates future sources of taxable income and
tax planning strategies and may make further adjustments based on management's outlook for continued profits in each jurisdiction.

Management assesses the available positive and negative evidence to estimate whether sufficient future taxable income will be generated to permit the use of the existing
deferred tax assets. A significant piece of objective negative evidence evaluated was the domestic cumulative loss incurred leading up to the period ended January 31,
2013. Such objective evidence limits the ability to consider other subjective evidence, such as our projections for future growth.

On the basis of this evaluation, as of December 31, 2013, a full valuation allowance was recorded against the domestic deferred tax assets as the Company has determined
that they are not more likely than not to be realized based upon the available evidence. As of January 31, 2020, the Company has not released the valuation allowance as
the objective negative evidence in the form of cumulative losses continues to exist. The amount of the domestic deferred tax assets considered realizable, however, could
be increased if objective negative evidence in the form of cumulative losses is no longer present.

The Company has a deferred tax asset of $2.6 million for U.S. foreign tax credits after considering the impact of the repatriated foreign earnings and the one-time transition
tax. The foreign tax credit deferred tax asset is fully offset with a valuation allowance. The excess foreign tax credits are subject to a ten-year carryforward and will begin to

expire in January 31, 2026.

The following table summarizes uncertain tax position ("UTP") activity, excluding the related accrual for interest and penalties:

(In thousands) 2019 2018
Balance at beginning of the year $ 1,447  $ 1,301
Increases in positions taken in a prior period (26) 9
Increases in positions taken in a current period 132 147
Decreases due to lapse of statute of limitations 8) (10)
Balance at end of the year $ 1,545 § 1,447

Included in the total UTP liability were estimated accrued interest and penalty of less than $0.1 million in both January 31, 2020 and January 31, 2019. These non-current
income tax liabilities are recorded in other long-term liabilities in the consolidated balance sheet and recognized as an expense during the period. The Company's policy is to
include interest and penalties in income tax expense. On January 31, 2020, the Company did not anticipate any significant adjustments to its unrecognized tax benefits
within the next twelve months. Included in the balance on January 31, 2020 were amounts offset by deferred taxes (i.e. temporary differences) or amounts that could be
offset by refunds in other taxing jurisdictions (i.e., corollary adjustments). Upon reversal, $0.4 million of the amount accrued on January 31, 2020 would impact the future
ETR.

The Company is subject to income taxes in the U.S. federal jurisdiction, and various states and foreign jurisdictions. Tax regulations within each jurisdiction are subject to
the interpretation of the related tax laws and regulations and require significant judgment to apply. Tax years related to January 31, 2017, 2018 and 2019 are open for federal
and state tax purposes. In addition, federal and state tax years January 31, 2002 through January 31, 2009 are subject to adjustment on audit, up to the amount of research
tax credit generated in those years. Any NOL carryover can still be adjusted by the Internal Revenue Service in future year audits.

The Company's management periodically estimates the probable tax obligations of the Company using historical experience in tax jurisdictions and informed judgments.
There are inherent uncertainties related to the interpretation of tax regulations in the jurisdictions in which the Company transacts business. The judgments and estimates
made at a point in time may change based on the outcome of tax audits, as well as changes to or further interpretations of regulations. If such changes take place, there is a
risk that the tax rate may increase or decrease in any period. Tax accruals for tax liabilities related to potential changes in judgments and estimates for federal, foreign and
state tax issues are included in other long-term liabilities on the consolidated balance sheet.
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Note 9 - Retirement plans

Pension plan

The defined benefit plan that covered the hourly rate employees of a non-operating filtration business unit, previously located in Winchester, Virginia, was frozen on
June 30, 2013 per the third Amendment to the Plan dated May 15, 2013. The accrued benefit of each participant was frozen as of the freeze date, and no further benefits shall
accrue with respect to any service or hours of service after the freeze date. The benefits are based on fixed amounts multiplied by years of service of participants. The
Company engages outside actuaries to calculate its obligations and costs. The funding policy is to contribute such amounts as are necessary to provide for benefits
attributed to service to date. The amounts contributed to the plan are sufficient to meet the minimum funding requirements set forth in the Employee Retirement Income
Security Act of 1974.

Asset allocation

The pension plan holds no securities of Perma-Pipe International Holdings, Inc.; 100% of the assets are held for benefits under the plan. The fair value of the major
categories of the pension plan's investments are presented below. The FASB has established a fair value hierarchy that distinguishes between (1) market participant
assumptions developed based on market data obtained from independent sources (observable inputs) and (2) an entity's own assumptions about market participant
assumptions developed based on the best information available in the circumstances (unobservable inputs). The fair value hierarchy consists of three broad levels, which
gives the highest priority to unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets and liabilities (Level 1) and the lowest priority to unobservable inputs (Level 3).
The three levels of the fair value hierarchy are described below:

Level 1 - Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets that are accessible at the measurement date for identical, unrestricted assets or liabilities.

Level 2 - Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly, including quoted prices for similar
assets or liabilities in active markets; quoted prices for identical or similar assets or liabilities in markets that are not active; inputs other than quoted prices that are
observable for the asset or liability (e.g., interest rates); and inputs that are derived principally from or corroborated by observable market data by correlation or other

means.

Level 3 - Inputs that are both significant to the fair value measurement and unobservable.

(In thousands) 2019 2018

Level 1 market value of plan assets

Equity securities $ 3,139 $ 2,991

U.S. bond market 2,134 2,065

Real estate securities 369 368
Subtotal 5,642 5,424

Level 2 significant other observable inputs

Money market fund $ 169 § 121
Subtotal 169 121

Investments measured at net asset value* $ 739 % 634
Total $ 6,550 $ 6,179

* Certain investments that are measured at fair value using the net asset value per share (or its equivalent) practical expedient have not been categorized in the fair value
hierarchy. The fair value amounts presented in this table are intended to permit reconciliation of the fair value hierarchy to the amounts presented in the reconciliation of
benefit obligations, plan assets and funded status of plan.
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On January 31, 2020, plan assets were held 64% in equity, 34% in debt and 2% in other. The investment policy is to invest all funds not needed to pay benefits and
investment expenses for the year, with target asset allocations of approximately 60% equities, 30% fixed income and 10% alternative investments, diversified across a
variety of sub-asset classes and investment styles, following a flexible asset allocation approach that will allow the plan to participate in market opportunities as they
become available. The expected long-term rate of return on assets is based on historical long-term rates of equity and fixed income investments and the asset mix objective
of the funds.

Investment market conditions in 2019 resulted in $0.7 million actual gain on plan assets as presented below, which decreased the fair value of plan assets at year end. The
Company reduced its expected return on plan assets used in determining cost and benefit obligations from 8.0% to 7.5%, based on updated long-term market expectations.
The plan's investments are intended to earn long-term returns to fund long-term obligations, and investment portfolios with asset allocations similar to those of the plan's
investment policy have attained such returns over several decades. Future contributions that may be necessary to maintain funding requirements are not expected to
materially affect the Company's liquidity.

Reconciliation of benefit obligations, plan assets and funded status of plan (in thousands) 2019 2018
Accumulated benefit obligations

Vested benefits $ 6959 $ 6,258
Accumulated benefits $ 6959 $ 6,258
Change in benefit obligation

Benefit obligation - beginning of year $ 6258 $ 6,658
Interest cost 237 240
Actuarial (gain)/loss 788 (303)
Benefits paid (324) (337)
Benefit obligation - end of year $ 6959 § 6,258
Change in plan assets

Fair value of plan assets - beginning of year $ 6,179 $ 6,700
Actual (loss)/gain on plan assets 695 (184)
Benefits paid (324) (337)
Fair value of plan assets - end of year $ 6550 _$ 6,179
Unfunded status $ (409) $ (80)
Balance sheet classification

Prepaid expenses and other current assets $ 325 % 343
Other assets 1,679 1,568
Deferred compensation liabilities (2,413) (1,991)
Net amount recognized $ (409) $ (80)
Amounts recognized in accumulated other comprehensive loss

Unrecognized actuarial loss $ 2087 § 1,648
Net amount recognized $ 2087 $ 1,648
Weighted-average assumptions used to determine net cost and benefit obligations 2019 2018

End of year benefit obligation discount rate 2.80% 3.90%
Service cost discount rate 3.90% 3.70%
Expected return on plan assets 7.50% 8.00%

The discount rate was based on a Citigroup pension discount curve of high quality fixed income investments with cash flows matching the plan's expected benefit
payments. The Company determines the expected long-term rate of return on plan assets by performing a detailed analysis of historical and expected returns based on the
strategic asset allocation approved by the Board of Directors and the underlying return fundamentals of each asset class. The Company's historical experience with the
pension fund asset performance is also considered.
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Components of net periodic benefit cost (in thousands) 2019 2018
Interest cost $ 237 240
Expected return on plan assets (450) (522)
Recognized actuarial loss 102 o4
Net periodic benefit income $ aity (218)
Amounts recognized in other comprehensive income (in thousands)

Actuarial gain/(loss) on obligation $ (787) 303
Actual (loss)/gain on plan assets 348 (644)
Total in other comprehensive income $ 439) (341)
Other comprehensive income is also affected by the tax effect of the valuation allowance recorded on the domestic deferred tax assets.

Cash flows (in thousands)

Expected employer contributions for the fiscal year ending January 31, 2021 —
Expected employee contributions for the fiscal year ending January 31, 2021 —
Estimated future plan benefit payments reflecting expected future service for the fiscal year(s) ending January 31,:

2021 325
2022 332
2023 332
2024 327
2025 328
2026 -2030 1,643
401(k) plan

The domestic employees of the Company participate in the PPIH 401(k) Employee Savings Plan, which is applicable to all employees except employees covered by
collective bargaining agreement benefits. The plan allows employee pretax payroll contributions from 1% to 16% of total compensation. The Company matches 100% of
each participant's payroll deferral contributions up to 1% of their compensation, plus 50% of each participant's payroll deferral contributions on the next 5% of
compensation.

Contributions to the 401(k) plan were $0.3 million each in years ended January 31, 2020 and 2019.

Multi-employer plans

The Company contributes to a multi-employer plan for certain collective bargaining U.S. employees. The risks of participating in this multi-employer plan are different from
a single employer plan in the following aspects:

Assets contributed to the multi-employer plans by one employer may be used to provide benefits to employees of other participating employers.

If a participating employer ceases contributing to the plan, the unfunded obligations of the plan may be inherited by the remaining participating employers.

If the Company chooses to stop participating in the multi-employer plan, the Company may be required to pay those plans an amount based on the underfunded

status of the plan, referred to as a withdrawal liability.
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The Company has assessed and determined that the multi-employer plans to which it contributes are not significant to the Company's consolidated financial statements.
The Company does not expect to incur a withdrawal liability or expect to significantly increase its contribution over the remainder of the contract period. The Company
made contributions to the bargaining unit supported multi-employer pension plans (in thousands):

Funded Collective
Zone FIP/RP Status 2019 2018 Surcharge Bargaining
Plan Name EIN Plan # Status  Pending/Implemented Contribution  Contribution Imposed Expiration Date
Plumbers & Pipefitters Local 572 Pension Fund 626102837 001 Green No $239 $188 No 3/31/2022

Note 10 - Stock-based compensation
At January 31, 2020, the Company had one incentive stock plan under which new equity incentive awards may be granted:

e 2017 Omnibus Stock Incentive Plan as Amended June 13, 2017, as amended, which stockholders approved in June 2017 ("2017 Plan")

The Company has prior incentive plans under which previously granted awards remain outstanding, but under which no new awards may be granted. At January 31, 2020,
the Company had reserved a total of 613,904 shares for grants and issuances under these incentive stock plans, which includes a reserve for issuances pursuant to
unvested or unexercised prior awards, and shares for new grants or issuances pursuant to the 2017 Plan.

While the 2017 Plan provides for the grant of deferred shares, non-qualified stock options, incentive stock options, restricted shares, restricted stock units, and
performance-based restricted stock units intended to qualify under section 422 of the Internal Revenue Code, to date the Company has issued only restricted shares and
restricted stock units under the 2017 Plan and currently intends to continue this practice. The 2017 Plan authorizes awards to officers, employees, consultants, and
directors. The 2017 Plan expires on June 12, 2020.

Stock compensation expense

The Company recognized the following stock based compensation expense:

(In thousands) 2019 2018

Stock-based compensation expense $ 2 3 33
Restricted stock based compensation expense 999 1,132
Total stock-based compensation expense $ 1,011 § 1,165
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Stock options

Options vest ratably over 4 years and are exercisable for up to ten years from the date of grant. To cover the exercise of vested options, the Company issues new shares
from its authorized but unissued share pool. The Company calculates all stock compensation expense based on the grant date fair value of the option and recognizes
expense on a straight-line basis over the four-year vesting period of the option.

The following summarizes the activity related to options outstanding under all plans for the years ended January 31, 2020 and 2019. The Company did not grant any stock
options in 2019 or 2018.

Weighted average
Weighted average remaining Aggregate
(Shares in thousands) Options exercise price contractual term intrinsic value
Outstanding on January 31, 2018 358 $ 9.44 4 3 482
Exercised 77) 6.83 162
Expired or forfeited (63) 16.2
Outstanding on January 31, 2019 218 8.6 3.8 257
Options exercisable on January 31, 2019 207 § 8.69 3.6 239
Exercised (53) 691 162
Expired or forfeited 33) 71
Outstanding on January 31, 2020 132 8.98 32 160
Options exercisable on January 31, 2020 129 § 9.01 3.14 $ 155
The Company received $0.4 million and $0.5 million in 2019 and 2018, respectively, for stock options exercised.
Weighted-
average grant Aggregate
Unvested options outstanding (shares in thousands) Options date fair value intrinsic value
Outstanding on January 31, 2019 il 700 $ 19
Granted — —
Vested ©)
Expired or forfeited 2) 7.1
Outstanding on January 31, 2020 3 3 733 $ 4

The fair value of stock options vested was less than $0.1 million in 2019 and $0.1 in 2018, respectively. Based on historical experience the Company expects 94% of these
options to vest.

As of January 31, 2020, there was less than $0.1 million of unrecognized compensation cost related to unvested stock options granted under the plans. That cost is
expected to be recognized over the weighted-average period of 0.4 years.
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Deferred stock

As part of their compensation, each year the Company grants deferred stock units to each non-employee director, equal to the result of dividing the award amount by the
fair market value of the common stock on the date of grant. The stock vests on the date of grant; however, it is only distributed to the directors upon their separation from
service. In June 2019, the Company granted 23,104 deferred stock units from the 2017 Plan, and as of January 31, 2020, there were approximately 125,049 deferred stock units
outstanding included in the restricted stock activity shown below.

As a result of certain events that occurred during second quarter of 2018, including a settlement of a stock-based award previously granted to a retiring member of
the Company's Board of Directors, the Company changed its method of accounting for deferred stock compensation arrangements granted to the Company's directors
from liability accounting treatment to equity accounting treatment and, as such, reclassified $0.7 million from a liability to additional paid in capital.

Restricted stock
The Company has granted restricted stock to executive officers and employees. The restricted stock vest ratably over three to four years. The Company calculates

restricted stock compensation expense based on the grant date fair value and recognizes expense on a straight-line basis over the vesting period. The following table
summarizes restricted stock activity for the years ended January 31, 2019 and 2020, respectively:

Weighted average Aggregate intrinsic
(Shares in thousands) Restricted shares price value
Outstanding on January 31, 2018 360 $ 905 §$ 3254
Granted 148 9.76
Issued 94)
Forfeited (131) 7.92
Outstanding on January 31, 2019 283 $ 874 § 2,476
Granted 152 9.09
Issued (51)
Forfeited (26) 8.79
Outstanding on January 31, 2020 358 g 9.03 § 3,234

The fair value of restricted stock vested was $0.8 million and $1.1 million in 2019 and 2018, respectively. As of January 31, 2020, there was $1.5 million of unrecognized
compensation cost related to unvested restricted stock granted under the plans. That cost is expected to be recognized over the weighted-average period of 2.1 years.

Note 11 - Stock rights
On September 15, 1999, the Company's Board of Directors declared a dividend of one common stock purchase right (a "Right") for each share of PPIH's common stock
outstanding at the close of business on September 22, 1999. The stock issued after September 22, 1999 and before the redemption or expiration of the Rights was also

entitled to one Right for each such additional share. Each Right entitled the registered holders, under certain circumstances, to purchase from the Company one share of
PPIH's common stock at $25, subject to adjustment. At no time did the Rights have any voting power.
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On September 15, 2009, the Company entered into the Amendment ("Amendment") to Rights Agreement dated as of September 15, 1999. Among other things, the
Amendment extended the term of the Rights Agreement until September 15, 2019 and amended definitions to include positions in derivative instruments related to the
Company's common stock as constituting beneficial ownership of such stock. The Rights expired on September 15, 2019.

Note 12 - Interest expense, net

(In thousands) 2019 2018
Interest expense $ 1,106 $ 1,286
Interest income (201) (164)
Interest expense, net $ 905 § 1,122

Note 13 - Subsequent Events

In January 2020, an outbreak of novel coronavirus (also known as COVID-19) started in Wuhan, China. The virus was recognized as a pandemic by the World Health
Organization on March 11, 2020. In response to the rapid spread of the virus, national and local governments have instituted varying levels of actions to contain the virus’s
spread. The Company has instituted a work from home policy for employees that can continue to perform their jobs remotely. In addition, steps have been taken at the
Company's plants and administrative offices to test temperatures of personnel entering the facilities as well as the implementation enhanced cleaning protocols.

As of the date of this filing, all of the Company’s plants are operating with the exception of the plant located in India. On March 24, 2020 the India plant operations were
suspended in compliance with a national 21-day shutdown which has now been extended through April 21, 2020. We do not expect a shut down over this period to
significantly impact our planned production schedules.

To date the Company's global supply chains have not been materially affected by the global pandemic.

Due to the unprecedented actions taken to stem the spread of the virus and the uncertainty of the duration and impact of additional actions that may be required, the
resulting future disruptions to the Company’s operations is uncertain.

On March 27, 2020, President Trump signed into law the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act (H.R. 748) (the “CARES Act”). Among the changes to the
U.S. federal income tax rules, the CARES Act restored net operating loss carryback rules that were eliminated by Tax Act, modified the limit on the deduction for net interest
expense and accelerated the timeframe for refunds of AMT credits. While the Company's analysis of the CARES Act impact on the Company's cash tax liability and
financial condition has not identified any overall material effect, the Company is still evaluating the effects of the CARES Act on its results of operations, financial
condition and cash flows.

In February 2020 the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia and the Russian Federation failed to reach an agreement on oil production limitations. The news of a failed agreement
resulted in a steep decline in global oil prices. On April 12, 2020 the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia and the Russian Federation agreed on oil production cuts which will begin on
May 1, 2020. Additionally, the reduction in worldwide consumption as a result of the coronavirus pandemic has added further downward pressure to oil prices. In response
to the decrease in oil prices, international oil companies have announced capital spending budget cuts that are reported to be approximately 30%. At this time the impact of
the anticipated reduction in capital spending on the Company’s results of operations is uncertain.

In response to the extraordinary steps taken to combat the spread of COVID-19 and the impact of decreased demand for oil and the associated collapse of oil prices, the
Company undertook a reforecast to determine the potential financial impact of these events on the Company’s results of operations. The results of the reforecast indicated
a risk that the Company could be out of compliance with a debt covenant related to the Senior Credit Facility in the second quarter of 2020. To address the possible
covenant compliance issue the Company has made plans to reduce planned capital expenditures and non-essential operating expenses, and if necessary, to repatriate
foreign cash to bring the covenant into compliance.

In addition, the Company has applied for funding under two Small Business Administration programs. The Paycheck Protection Program provides forgivable funding for
payroll and related costs as well as some non-payroll costs. The Company has applied for funding in the amount of $3.2 million. The Company has also applied for a Small
Business Administration Economic Disaster Loan which could be up to $2 million based on need and repayment capacity. There is no guarantee that the Company will
be granted funds under either program.
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Schedule IT

Perma-Pipe International Holdings, Inc. and Subsidiaries

VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS
For the Years Ended January 31, 2020 and 2019

Balance at
beginning of Charges to Balance at end of
(In thousands) period expenses Write-offs (1)  Other charges (2) period
Year Ended January 31, 2020
Allowance for possible losses in collection of trade receivables $ 53 $ 123 % 254) $ 2 8 407
Year Ended January 31,2019
Allowance for possible losses in collection of trade receivables $ 469 $ 140 $ @272) $ 199 § 536

(1) Uncollectible accounts charged off.

(2) Primarily related to recoveries from accounts previously charged off and currency translation.
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EXHIBIT INDEX

The exhibits listed below are filed herewith except the exhibits described below as incorporated by reference. Exhibits not filed herewith are incorporated by reference to
such exhibits filed by the Company under the location set forth under the caption "Description and Location" below. The Commission file number for the Company's
Exchange Act filings referenced below is 0-18370.

Exhibit No. Description and Location
3(@1) Certificate of Incorporation of Perma-Pipe International Holdings, Inc. [Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.3 to Registration Statement No. 33-70298]
3(i) Certificate of Amendment to Certificate of Incorporation of Perma-Pipe International Holdings, Inc. [Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the
Company's Current Report on Form 8-K filed on March 20, 2017]
3@ii)  Fifth Amended and Restated By-Laws of Perma-Pipe International Holdings, Inc. [Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to the Company's Current
Report on Form 8-K filed on May 6, 2019]
4(a)  Specimen Common Stock Certificate [Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4 to Registration Statement No. 33-70794]
4(b)  Rights Agreement [Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 of the Company's [Current Report on Form 8-K filed on September 24, 1999]
4(c)  Amendment to Rights Agreement [Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 of the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K filed on September 17, 2009]
4(d)  Description of the Registrant's Securities Registered Pursuant to Section 12 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934
10(a) 2001 Independent Directors Stock Option Plan, [Incorporated by reference to Exhibit (d)(5) to the Company's Schedule TO filed on May 25, 2001] *
10(b)  Form of Directors and Officers Indemnification Agreement [Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for
the fiscal year ended January 31, 2006 filed on May 15, 2006] *
10(c) MFRI 2004 Stock Incentive Plan [Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10(e) to the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K/A for the fiscal year ended
January 31, 2004 filed on June 1, 2004] *
10(d) 2009 Non-Employee Directors Stock Option Plan [Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10(k) to the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal
year ended January 31, 2010 filed on April 19, 2010]*
10(e) 2013 Omnibus Stock Incentive Plan as Amended June 14, 2013 [Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K
filed on June 17, 2013] *
10(f)  Credit and Security Agreement between the Company and BMO Harris Bank, N.A. dated September 24, 2014 [Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to
the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on December 9, 2014]
10(g)  First Amendment to Credit and Security Agreement between the Company and BMO Harris Bank, N.A. dated February 5, 2015 [Incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 10(m) to the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended January 31, 2015 filed on April 16, 2015]
10(h)  Limited Waiver and Second Amendment to Credit and Security Agreement between the Company and BMO Harris Bank, N.A. dated April 30, 2015
[Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10 to the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on June 12, 2015]
10() Consent and Third Amendment to Credit and Security Agreement between the Company and BMO Harris Bank, N.A. dated January 29, 2016
[Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10(n) to the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended January 31, 2016 filed on April 28,
2016]
10G) Fourth Amendment to Credit and Security Agreement between the Company and BMO Harris Bank, N.A. dated February 29, 2016 [Incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K filed on March 2, 2016]
10(k)  Fifth Amendment to Credit and Security Agreement between the Company and BMO Harris Bank, N.A. dated October 25, 2016 [Incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K filed on October 27, 2016]
10()  Sixth Amendment to Credit and Security Agreement between the Company and BMO Harris Bank, N.A. dated December 29, 2016 [Incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10(m) to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended January 31, 2017 filed on April 14, 2017]
10(m)  Seventh Amendment to Credit and Security Agreement between the Company and BMO Harris Bank, N.A.dated December 14, 2017. [Incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10(m) to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended January 31, 2018 filed on April 19, 2018]
10(n)  Limited Waiver and Eighth Amendment to Credit and Security Agreement between the Company and Bank of Montreal, as successor by assignment to
BMO Harris Bank N.A., dated June 5, 2018 [Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10(a) to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on June 12,
2018]
10(0)  Ninth Amendment to Credit and Security Agreement between the Company and Bank of Montreal, as successor by assignment to BMO Harris Bank N.A.,
dated August 1, 2018 [Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10(a) to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on September 11, 2018]
10(p)  Asset Purchase Agreement dated as of January 29, 2016 by and among MFRI, Inc., TDC Filter Manufacturing Inc. and BHA Altair, LLC [Incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 2.1 to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K filed on February 4, 2016]
10(q)  Share Purchase Agreement dated as of January 29, 2016 by and among MFRI, Inc., MFRI Holdings (B.V.1.) Ltd, Midwesco Filter Resources Denmark A/S

and Hengst Holding GmbH [Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.2 to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K filed on February 4, 2016]
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10(r)
10(s)
10(t)
10(w)
10(v)
10(w)
10(x)
10(y)
10(z)
10(aa)
14

21

23

24

31

32
101.INS
101.SCH
101.CAL
101.DEF

101.LAB
101.PRE

Executive Employment Agreement with David J. Mansfield dated October 19, 2016 [Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company's Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q filed on December 13, 2016]*
Agreement with Bradley Mautner dated January 31, 2017 [Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K filed on
February 3, 2017]*
Employment agreement with Karl J. Schmidt dated March 17, 2017 [Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K
filed on March 20, 2017]*
2017 Omnibus Stock Incentive Plan as Amended June 13, 2017 [Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q
filed on September 19, 2017] *
Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement under the 2017 Omnibus Stock Incentive Plan as Amended June 13, 2017 [Incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10(b) to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on September 11, 2018]*
Revolving Credit and Security Agreement, dated September 20, 2018, by and among the Company, PNC Bank, National Association, and the other parties
thereto [Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K filed on September 24, 2018]
Executive Employment Agreement, dated October 1, 2018, by and between the Company and D. Bryan Norwood [Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1
to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K filed on October 1, 2018]*
Letter Agreement, dated September 28, 2018, by and between the Company and Karl J. Schmidt [Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the
Company's Current Report on Form 8-K filed on October 1, 2018]*
Form of Restricted Stock Agreement under the 2017 Omnibus Stock Incentive Plan as Amended June 13, 2017*
Executive Employment Agreement, dated January 31, 2020 by and between the Company and Wayne Bosch*
Code of Conduct [Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 14 of the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K/A for the fiscal year ended January 31, 2004 filed
on June 1, 2004]
Subsidiaries of Perma-Pipe International Holdings, Inc.
Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm - Grant Thornton LLP
Power of Attorney executed by directors and officers of the Company
Rule 13a - 14(a)/15d - 14(a) Certifications
(1) Chief Executive Officer certification pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
(2) Chief Financial Officer certification pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
Section 1350 Certifications(1) Chief Executive Officer certification pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002(2) Chief Financial
Officer certification pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
XBRL Instance
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Labels
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation

*Management contracts and compensatory plans or agreements

Item 16. FORM 10-K SUMMARY - None.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the

undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

Date: April 21, 2020

Perma-Pipe International Holdings, Inc.

/s/ David J. Mansfield

David J. Mansfield
Director, President and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the Registrant and in the

capacities and on the date indicated.
DAVID J. MANSFIELD

D. BRYAN NORWOOD*

DAVID S. BARRIE*
DAVID B. BROWN*
JEROME T. WALKER*
CYNTHIA BOITER*

*By: /s/ David J. Mansfield

David J. Mansfield

Director, President and Chief Executive Officer (Principal Executive Officer)

Vice President and Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)

Director and Chairman of the Board of Directors
Director
Director
Director

Individually and as Attorney in Fact
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GLOBAL LOCATIONS

PERMA-PIPE International Holdings, Inc.

6410 West Howard Street
Niles, lllinois 60714 USA

847-966-2235
permapipe.com

SALES OFFICES & MANUFACTURING FACILITIES

PERMA-PIPE, Inc.

Sales Office

6410 West Howard Street
Niles, Illinois 60714 USA
847-966-2235

Sales Office

24900 Pitkin Road, Suite 309
Spring, Texas 77386 USA
281-598-6222

Manufacturing Plant
1310 Quarles Drive
Lebanon, Tennessee 37087 USA

Manufacturing Plant
5008-11 Curtis Lane
New Iberia, Louisiana 70560 USA

PERMA-PIPE Canada, Ltd.

Sales Office

Suite 1600, 407 - 2nd Street SW
Calgary, Alberta T2P 2Y3 Canada
403-264-4880

Manufacturing Plant
5233 39t Street
Camrose, Alberta T4V 4R5 Canada

PERMA-PIPE Middle East (FZC)

Sales Office

Block A; Suite AG 06A-07

Headquarters Building, Dubai Silicon Oasis
Dubai, United Arab Emirates
+971-4-607-2010

Manufacturing Plant
Fujairah Free Zone 2, P.O. Box 4988
Fujairah, United Arab Emirates

PERMA-PIPE Saudi Arabia, LLC

Sales Office & Manufacturing Plant

Plot #F-21/1 Dammam Industrial City 2
P.O. Box 31198

Al Khobar 31952, Kingdom of Saudi Arabia
+966-13-812-9500

PERMA-PIPE Egypt S.A.E.

Sales Office

43KM Cairo Ismailia Road, Shorouk 3 City,
LMakan Compound, Villa 4

Cairo, Egypt

002-01202269110

Manufacturing Plant
Bayad El Arab Industrial Area
Beni Suef , Egypt

PERMA-PIPE India Pvt. Ltd.

Sales Office

307, 3rd Floor, A-Wing

KNOX Plaza, Mind Space Area
Malad (W), Mumbai 400 064 India
+91-22-4003-6007

Manufacturing Plant

Godown 11 & 12, Survey #197, Village Mithi Rohar,
Taluka-Gandhidham, District-Kutch

Gujarat, India 370240

PERMA-PIPE Qil Field Services

Building No. 1, Office No. 09, Sector 6, Plot No. 49
Mussafa Industrial Area, Abu Dhabi

Abu Dhabi, United Arab Emirates, 92079

+971 25758800
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